UCSF UC San Francisco Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Detection of hyaluronan and hyaluronidase in human whole saliva and parotid saliva

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/4bc9r09v

Author Low, Mari-Anne L.

Publication Date 1994

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

DETECTION OF HYALURONAN AND HYALURONIDASE

IN HUMAN WHOLE SALIVA AND PAROTID SALIVA

by

MARI-ANNE L. LOW

THESIS

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

ORAL BIOLOGY

in the

GRADUATE DIVISION

of the

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

San Francisco



Copyright 1994

-

by

Mari-Anne L. Low

In honor of

Lawrence K. Low

and

in memory of

•

Mary Y. Low

- for all their love, encouragement, and support

PREFACE

The biology of hyaluronan has been subject to investigation for several decades because of its unique physiological characteristics. Traditionally, this high molecular weight glycosaminoglycan has been recognized for its contribution to the structure and organization of the extracellular matrix. However, the elevated levels of hyaluronan during fetal wound healing, a prime example of rapid tissue proliferation and regeneration, has garnered renewed interest in recent years. Wound healing is a complex series of biological events which have been shown to be fundamentally different in the fetus and adult. Clinical observations that intraoral wounds heal in a similar fashion as the scarless fetal wound is intriguing. In a pursuit to unravel the mechanisms of intraoral tissue repair, this investigation provides new evidence for the healing properties of saliva.

I gratefully acknowledge the enduring support of my graduate thesis committee including Dr. Robert Stern, Dr. M. Anthony Pogrel, and Dr. Dorothy Rowe. Their expertise knowledge, wisdom, and encouragement have greatly contributed to a remarkable educational experience. I especially appreciate Dr. Stern for providing me the opportunity to perform this research in his laboratory as well as for promoting an enriched daily learning environment. In addition, the

iv

continued assistance of my laboratory colleagues, especially Jackson Hall, was invaluable. My gratitude is extended to the personnel of the Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery and Faculty Practice at the University of California, San Francisco for their respective administrative services and clinical support. Lastly, a special thank you is given to Dr. Dorothy Perry for her endless words of encouragement as a mentor, colleague, and friend.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1:	INTRODUCTION	•	•	•	•••	•	•	•	•	•	•	1
CHAPTER 2:	MATERIALS AND METHODS	•	•	•	••	•	•	•	•	•	•	19
CHAPTER 3:	RESULTS	•	•	•	••	•	•	•	•	•	•	32
CHAPTER 4:	DISCUSSION	•	•	•	•••	•	•	•	•	•	•	65
CHAPTER 5:	CONCLUSIONS	•	•	•	•••	•	•	•	•	•	•	86
BIBLIOGRAP	ну	•	•	•	••	•	•	•	•	•	•	89

-

.

LIST OF TABLES

Table	3-1:	Hyaluronidase a	activity i	n saliva .		57
Table	3-2:	Inhibition of a	Streptomyc	es HA'ase	Activity .	61

- - -

-

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1: Structure of hyaluronan repeating disaccharide unit	4
Figure 2-1: ELISA-like assay for HA'ase activity	28
Figure 3-1: Comparison of HA'ase activity in pretreated saliva samples	33
Figure 3-2: Salivary HA'ase activity following multiple freeze-thaw cycles	34
Figure 3-3: Assessment of HA'ase Activity with PIC or a prolonged 37°C incubation	35
Figure 3-4: Distribution of protein content in unstimulated and stimulated parotid saliva and whole saliva	37
Figure 3-5: Distribution of hyaluronan content in unstimulated and stimulated whole saliva and parotid saliva	38
Figure 3-6: Dose-dependence of HA'ase activity in whole saliva	41
Figure 3-7: Comparison of pH and enzymatic buffers for optimal salivary HA'ase activity	43
Figure 3-8: pH and salt curve of whole saliva and parotid saliva	44
Figure 3-9: Comparison of enzymatic buffers at pH 3.7 for optimal salivary HA'ase activity in unstimulated parotid saliva	46
Figure 3-10: Extended pH curve for whole saliva and parotid saliva	47
Figure 3-11: Whole saliva HA'ase activity in the presence of various concentrations of BSA	50
Figure 3-12: Parotid saliva HA'ase activity in the presence of various concentrations of BSA	52
Figure 3-13: Comparison of HA'ase activity between untreated and concentrated samples	53
Figure 3-14: Distribution of HA'ase activity in unstimulated and stimulated parotid saliva	55

f. 8.

.

<u>{</u>

ø.

E.

Figure 3-15: Distribution of HA'ase activity i unstimulated and stimulated whole saliva	n • 56
Figure 3-16: Demonstration of HA'ase inhibitors i saliva	n • 59
Figure 3-17: Dot blot analysis for detection of salivar HA'ase	у • 62

The biology of hyaluronan (HA) and its catabolic enzyme, hyaluronidase (HA'ase), has rapidly become a field of intense interest in recent years due to its important contributions to the extracellular matrix (ECM). Due to their ubiquitous nature, HA and HA'ase in biological systems are involved in HA metabolism is vitally important to complex processes. several fundamental physiological and cell biological functions such as ECM homeostasis, cell proliferation, and locomotion (Laurent and Fraser, 1992). Furthermore, the clinical uses of HA as a medicinal agent in the treatment of joint disease (Rydell et al., 1970; Strachan et al., 1990), as an ophthalmic surgical device (Miller and Stegmann, 1983), as a diagnostic marker for disease (Engstrom-Laurent, 1989; Engstrom-Laurent and Laurent, 1989), or as a therapeutic agent to accelerate wound healing (Hellstrom and Laurent, 1987; Casadel et al., 1989; King et al., 1991) underline the need to understand more thoroughly the metabolism of HA.

In the oral environment, the presence and possible roles of HA and HA'ase have been subject to little investigation. The remarkable observation that intraoral wounds heal rapidly with little or no scarring even without suturing (Peakock, 1984) elicits questions regarding similarity to fetal wound healing. In comparison to adult wound repair, the fetal environment exhibits numerous differences such as an enriched milieu of growth factors and an abundance of ECM components. particularly HA (Longaker and Adzick, 1991). In addition, the oral mucosa does not appear to age like the skin as demonstrated by the observation that the oral mucosa of a healthy 20-year-old person resembles that of an 85-year-old (Wolff et al., 1991). Moreover, comparison of healthy, nonmedicated older persons with others of the same age who medically compromised reveals few substantiative were differences in the oral mucosa as well as in the overall oral health and function (Ship and Baum, 1993). The interaction of saliva with the oral mucosa may be responsible possibly for these intriguing properties (Hutson et al., 1979). To better understand the role of HA and HA'ase in the oral cavity as well as in other biological systems, an overview of these vital ECM components is presented.

I. Hyaluronan

Since its first isolation from the vitreous body of the eye by Meyer and Palmer (1934), HA has been shown to be ubiquitously distributed among the organs and tissues of the mammalian body. Although soft connective tissue contains the highest concentration, common sources for isolation of HA include synovial fluid, umbilical cord, rooster comb, and some Streptococcal strains of bacteria. Established by enzymatic and chemical studies, the chemical and physical structure of HA was first described by Meyer as a linear polymer of a repeating disaccharide unit composed of B-1,4-D-glucuronic acid-B1,3-N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (Meyer, 1958) (Figure 1-1). Originally the HA polymer was termed hyaluronic acid since it was isolated from the vitreous body (hyaloid = vitreous = glassy) and because it contained uronic acid. Later, however, it was realized that under physiological conditions sodium replaces all carboxyl groups on uronic acid and thus, sodium hyaluronate was the more appropriate name. Balazs et al. (1986) proposed that the term, hyaluronan, be adopted to alleviate confusion as well as to conform with standard polysaccharide nomenclature.

Because of its chemical structure, HA is a member of the heterogeneous glycosaminoglycan (GAG) family in which repeating disaccharide units, composed of hexosamine glycosidically linked to either uronic acid (glucuronic or iduronic) or galactose, form negatively charged polysaccharide chains. The family of GAGs identified presently also include chondroitin-4-sulfate, chondroitin-6-sulfate, dermatan sulfate, keratan sulfate, heparan sulfate, and heparin. However, HA is uniquely distinguished from other GAG family members by its lack of a covalently linked peptide. Referred to as proteoglycan (PG) 'monomers', the other GAGs are covalently attached to a core protein and thus, do not normally exist as free polymers in vivo. Rather, in the major 1

Į.



Figure 1-1: Structure of hyaluronan repeating dissacharide unit

PG, aggrecan, an aggregate of PG monomers forms as the core proteins noncovalently associate with link proteins along the length of the HA chain in a "bottle brush" configuration (Hardingham and Muir, 1973). Another characteristic feature of HA is that it does not possess any sulfated groups typically found in all other GAGs.

II. Physiological Roles of Hyaluronan

The physical properties of HA confer to it the several physiological roles which have been assigned. Consisting of 200 - 10,000 disaccharide units (Toole, 1990), the molecular mass of HA in normal tissues typically exceeds 10⁶ (Hook, 1984), but may vary from 1×10^5 to 5×10^6 (Toole, 1990). The extensive secondary structure, stabilized by hydrogen bonds and water bridges, is known to stiffen HA which accounts for the unusual viscosity of solutions (Scott, 1992). In solution, the long unbranched HA chains form an overall expanded coil structure which has the capacity to hold 1000fold more water than the polymer (Fessler and Fessler, 1966). Consequently, HA maintains a large volume:mass ratio when incorporated with PGs and in turn, provides turgidity and compressive strength on tissues (Sweeney and Weiss, 1992). This highly hydrated sphere of HA also can act like an ionexchange resin permitting electrostatic interactions which form the basis for some of the various properties of HA such as its influence on osmotic pressure and ion transport and يم 1

(

(; ;;

4 ° 3 ~ 7 ~ 3 ~

r -

distribution (Sebag, 1992). Although the exact mechanism has not been elucidated, an additional function of the expanded macromolecular HA structure includes keeping migrating cells apart during morphogenesis (Toole et al., 1984). Also, it has been suggested that as water becomes trapped by HA, an enormous swelling of the connective tissue stroma ensues to create channels for cell movement by separation of the collagen layers.

Historically, HA was described as a predominant component of substance" "cementing the "ground or substance" of tissues. This subcutaneous amorphous, colorless, and transparent material appeared like "ground glass" and was thought to act only as a space filler between cells and Today the roles of HA in modulating various cell fibers. functions contributing to the overall integrity and dynamics of the ECM are becoming increasingly significant. HA is recognized for its major role in providing structural and functional support. HA participates in several macromolecular including provision of physiological roles structural framework in cartilage (Heinegard and Oldberg, 1989), homeostasis of the ECM (Laurent, 1970; Comper and Laurent, 1978), steric interactions to exclude other macromolecules (Laurent, 1970; Comper and Laurent, 1978), and lubrication of joints and tissues (Ogston and Stanier, 1953; Gibbs et al., 1968).

6

€.

More recently, an increased appreciation of HA and its degradation products has occurred because of their role in growth, development, and repair of tissues. For example, levels of HA are elevated during embryological development (Toole and Gross, 1971; Toole 1981; Kujawa and Tepperman, 1983; Kujawa et al., 1986; Kulyk and Kosher, 1987), wound healing (Longaker et al., 1991), and tumorigenesis (Knudson et al., 1989). As a major component of the ECM, HA binds numerous PGs which function in cell adhesion and migration. These dynamic processes are mediated though interactions between the PG polysaccharide chains and other major ECM components. Hence, cell adhesion proteins such as fibronectin and laminin, structural elements consisting of collagen and elastin, HA, and the PGs comprise an interactive network, responding to one another or cell surfaces through specific protein or oligosaccharide recognition sites (Jackson et al., 1991). For example, the tripeptide sequence, Arg-Gly-Asp (or R-G-D) (Ruoslahti and Pierschbacher, 1987), recognizes the integrin receptor superfamily on cell surfaces which in turn, transmits information between the ECM and the cytoskeleton of the cell membrane (Hynes, 1987). Recently, sequence analysis of pig liver HA'ase has revealed a R-G-D site (Stern, unpublished data).

Considerable attention has been focused toward the critical balance of HA and HA'ase in basic biological processes

7

1....

[...

فنتح

معمر التراج تسميم التراج

لتعيتم

including cell proliferation, locomotion, and differentiation (Orkin and Toole, 1980; Toole et al., 1989; Balazs et al., 1951; Turley, 1984). During embryogenesis, for example, predictable changes in HA synthesis and breakdown occur. In the early stage of morphogenesis, cell growth, proliferation, and migration predominate and HA levels characteristically rise (Toole, 1976; Laurent and Fraser, 1992). In early chick embryogenesis, the mesodermal cells of the limb bud (day 3 -3.5) synthesize high concentrations of HA. Moreover, a maximal rate of HA synthesis is observed prior to the mitotic process and thus, HA is implicated in promoting division by permitting cell detachment from the supporting matrix (Brecht et al., 1986).

Involvement of HA in cell locomotion is most obvious during morphogenesis. HA synthesis predominates when embryonic cell migration is initiated in a variety of cell types such as neural crest (Derby and Pintar, 1978), chondrocytes (Toole et al., 1989), smooth muscle cells (Boudreau and Rabinovitch, 1991), corneal fibroblasts (Toole, 1982), and heart cushion cells (Markwald et al., 1978). The ability of HA to occupy a large volume is believed to provide the open space for cell migration. For example, the developing murine salivary gland demonstrates increased quantities of HA present at its migrating edge (Bernfield et al., 1984). Additionally, the role of HA in promoting cell locomotion is especially

8

important in tumor invasion. Increased levels of HA are detected in tumors and may correlate with tumor aggressiveness in some cases (Knudson et al., 1989). Moreover, a novel HA receptor, termed Receptor for HA Mediated Motility (RHAMM), has been identified to regulate directional locomotion of tumor cells when HA is bound (Turley, 1992).

Although HA stimulates proliferation and migration, an opposite effect is observed in differentiation. The presence of HA inhibits differentiation and therefore, its removal by its degradative enzyme, HA'ase, is necessary for this stage to proceed (Toole et al., 1972; Kujawa et al., 1986). Concurrently, the proliferative phase and HA synthesis cease.

The biosynthesis of HA is directed via hyaluronate synthase, a 50-kD eukaryotic protein identified by Prehm (1989). Normally GAGs are synthesized by the addition of sugars to the nonreducing end of the growing oligosaccharide chain in the Golgi apparatus (Jackson et al., 1991). However, the mechanism of HA synthesis differs significantly in that its sugars are added to the reducing end of the polymer (Prehm, 1989). Furthermore, elongation occurs inside the plasma membrane rather than in the Golgi, and subsequently, HA is translocated into the extracellular space with the nonreducing end in the lead.

9

CALL COLOR

III. Catabolism of Hyaluronan

To fully understand the importance of HA during development, differentiation, and other cell biological functions, the catabolism of this unique polyanionic polysaccharide chain requires considerable attention. Identified as early as 1928 (Duran-Reynals, 1928), HA'ase originally was described as a "spreading factor" because of its ability to facilitate the diffusion of toxins, vaccines, and dyes into tissue (Meyer and Rapport, 1952). Later, this "spreading factor's" enzymatic capacity was acknowledged when the enzyme was observed to rapidly depolymerize the HA-rich environment of the vitreous humor which subsequently, decreased in viscosity (Chain and Duthrie, 1940). As a result, much interest has been focused to elucidate HA'ase participation in altering HA and PGs in numerous cell functions including proliferation (Balazs and Holmgren, 1950; Fiszer-Szafars and Nadal, 1977), motility (Hakanson et al., 1980), differentiation (Fiszer-Szafars, 1984), adhesion (Barnhart et al., 1979), and phagocytosis (Goggins et al., 1968b; Forrester and Balazs, 1980).

Depolymerization of HA in mammals is achieved through the concerted action of three enzymes, hyaluronidase, β -glucuronidase, and β -N-acetylglucosaminidase (Roden et al., 1989). Hyaluronidase (EC 3.2.1.35) is characterized by its mechanism of endoglycosidic cleavage in which the internal $\beta(1-4)$ sugar linkages are cleaved. Following exhaustive

10

digestion with this endo- β -N-acetylhexoaminidase, the major degradation product is the tetrasaccharide, GlcUA-GlcNAc-GlcUA-GlcNAc (Roden, 1980). Smaller amounts of disaccharide, hexasaccharide, and higher oligosaccharide also are found. Additionally, catabolism of other GAGs including chondroitin-4-sulfate and chondroitin-6-sulfate is believed to be catalyzed by hyaluronidase and have a central role in the function of lysosomal HA'ases in particular (Fenger, 1982). comparison, B-glucuronidase (EC 3.2.1.31) and B-N-In acetylhexosaminidase (EC 3.2.1.30) are exoglycosidases which cleave terminal monosaccharides from the non-reducing terminus in a stepwise manner (Arbogast et al., 1975).

Despite expectations for a relatively stable molecule, the turnover of HA is exceedingly rapid for a connective tissue structural component. Fraser and Laurent (1989) estimate 10 - 100 mg of HA are turned over daily in adult humans. Measured by intravenous injection of ³H-labeled hyaluronan into humans, circulating HA, originating from the peripheral tissues via the lymph (Laurent and Laurent, 1981), was determined to have a half-life of 2.5 - 5.5 minutes (Laurent and Fraser, 1986). Furthermore, the liver was established as the principal site of catabolism of HA present in the circulation, although the kidneys and spleen were reported also to play an additional role (Laurent and Fraser, 1986; Laurent and Fraser, 1991). Further investigations into HA degradation in the liver have

12.90 ⁽¹⁾ 40

revealed its uptake by hepatic endothelial cells (Smedsrod et al., 1990), the presence of specific receptors for HA endocytosis on these cells (Forsberg and Gustafson, 1991), and following endocytosis, transport to lysosomes for degradation by HA'ase, *B*-glucuronidase, and *B*-N-acetylglucosaminidase (Roden et al., 1989). However, HA is present only at low concentrations in the circulation (Laurent and Laurent, 1981). Before reaching the circulation, the majority of the body's HA is taken up and degraded in the lymph nodes which exhibit a high capacity for HA catabolism (Fraser et al., 1988).

Recent evidence demonstrates local degradation of HA in tissues such as the eye, skin, intestine, and joints (Laurent et al., 1988; Reed et al., 1990; Brown et al., 1991; Laurent and Reed, 1991). Rapid turnover is observed in each of these tissues which may facilitate the participation of HA in physiological regulatory mechanisms of various processes such as embryological development, wound healing, and tumorigenesis (Laurent and Fraser, 1992).

IV. Wound Healing Properties of Saliva

Beyond doubt, saliva is important for the preservation and maintenance of oral health (Mandel, 1987; 1989). The complexity of saliva bestows a multitude of functions including lubrication, protection to aid oral defenses, modulation of bacterial populations, and maintenance of calcified dental tissue integrity (Fox et al., 1985). However, many salivary components have been poorly

investigated (Herrera et al., 1988).

The role of saliva in wound healing has been implicated by many investigators (Hutson et al., 1979; Li et al., 1980; Niall et al., 1982; Bodner, 1991). Self and communal licking and grooming among mammals are instinctive behaviors which become more pronounced following injury (Hart and Powell, 1990). Antibacterial substances, growth factors, and immunoglobulins in saliva are delivered to the wound by licking, which are postulated to promote wound healing (Bodner, 1991). For example, the antibacterial properties of salivary lysozyme were assumed to contribute to the wound healing capacity of saliva (Tenovou et al., 1987). More recently, interest has focused on the effect of epidermal growth factor (EGF) in wound healing since it is detected in most human saliva samples (McGurk et al., 1990). Evidence suggests EGF accelerates the rate of wound healing in animals (Niall et al., 1982; Brown et al., 1989). Additional findings to support the contribution of saliva to wound healing show decreased healing rates of cutaneous, gingival, and extraction wounds following sialadenectomy of all major salivary glands in animal models (Hutson et al., 1979; Bodner and Dayan, 1990; Shen et al., 1979; Bodner et al., 1991).

V. Fetal and Adult Wound Repair

Demonstration of the HA-rich fetal wound matrix by DePalma et al. (1989) has pioneered a new approach to understanding the scarless fetal wound. During rapid tissue proliferation, regeneration, and repair, HA is known to be a key structural and functional component of the ECM. Hence, the increased levels of HA and HA'ase inhibitors and low HA'ase levels may modulate fetal wound healing by orchestrating healing by regeneration rather than by scarring (Longaker et al., 1991; Longaker and Adzick, 1991). In a parallel analogy, intraoral wound healing may function in a similar manner since these substances are integral components of intraoral wound repair (Bertolami and Ellis, 1986).

Adult mammalian wound repair is the sum of a complex series of biochemical events which include hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation, and remodeling. In a surgically created wound, acute inflammatory reaction is initiated the almost immediately with leukocytes, erythrocytes, and platelets adhering to the endothelium (Peacock, 1984). Vasodilation, increased vascular permeability, and diapedesis of primarily acute inflammatory cells occur. In this early phase of wound healing, HA levels are dramatically elevated to aid in cell proliferation (Bertolami and Donoff, 1978) and to facilitate cell migration in order to restore cellular continuity (Abetangelo et al., 1983). By approximately three days after

a (13) a

wounding, the cellular phase of repair commences with fibroblasts proliferating and migrating into the wound (Peacock, 1984). On the fourth or fifth day post-wounding, HA levels decline due to increased HA'ase levels which remain elevated for several days before diminishing (Bertolami and Donoff, 1982). As a result, HA is degraded and levels continue to gradually decrease during the repair process (Alexander and Donoff, 1980; Weigel et al., 1986). In turn, smaller molecular weight HA fragments are produced which are known to be relatively potent angiogenic agents (West et al., 1985). In addition, sulphated GAG levels are elevated (Weigel et al., 1986). More importantly, the removal of HA in healing wounds signals a change from cellular proliferation to cellular differentiation (Toole et al., 1972). Hence. differentiation, neovascularization, collagen synthesis, and tissue organization follow (Toole and Trelstad, 1971; Toole, Wound maturation ensues as the amount of PGs and 1972). fibroblasts decrease (Peacock, 1984). As the remodeling phase continues the end result is the formation of a scar composed of cross-linked collagen. Therefore, considering this pattern of specific cellular behaviors, the rate of wound healing may be measured as a function of the timing of the appearance and subsequent disappearance of HA'ase (Pogrel et al., 1989).

VI. Hyaluronidase Activity in the Oral Cavity

The presence and possible roles of HA and HA'ase in saliva

15

- · ·

۴

r1 : 🗩 🕫

have been subjected to little investigation, especially in recent years. Mahler and Lisanti (1952) identified HA'ase activity of presumably bacterial origin in human whole saliva, but failed to detect enzyme activity in parotid saliva. In another study of human whole saliva, Rolvstead et al. (1958) attempted to establish baseline data on HA'ase activity, but the detection method lacked sensitivity and specificity. Over 20 years ago, Hopps and Prout (1972) distinguished between tissue and bacterial HA'ases in human whole saliva on the basis of distinct pH profiles. However, the complexity of the microflora in whole saliva precluded interpretation to distinguish whether these enzymes were indeed of tissue origin or bacterial origin. On the other hand, Chauncey (1961) reported that HA'ase, among other human salivary enzymes such as arylsulfatase and catalase, was of purely microbial origin.

HA'ase activity has been demonstrated in human gingival crevicular exudate (Schultz-Haudt et al., 1954; Dewar, 1958; Courant et al., 1965) as well as in the gingival homogenates of humans (Goggins et al., 1968a; D'Allaird et al., 1969). This activity may be related to periodontal tissue destruction it progression or may represent to the cellular differentiation stage in healing. Moreover, this activity may represent enzyme of host tissue or bacterial origin, but more conclusive data have not been reported until recently. The bacterial HA'ase activity in human gingival crevicular fluid **. ***** 1 2407.1 (

a a sur

has been shown to be higher in inflamed sites than in normal areas (van Palenstein-Helderman and Hoogeveen, 1976). Both HA and HA'ase activity of lysosomal and bacterial origin have been detected in gingival exudate from sites of chronic gingivitis in adults (Last and Embery, 1987). In addition, animal studies in dogs have demonstrated HA'ase activity in both saliva and gingival crevicular fluid. However, these studies are also limited and outdated (Tynelius-Bratthall and Attstrom, 1972; Tynelius-Bratthall, 1972; Tan and Bowness, 1968).

Therefore, salivary HA and HA'ase appear to be timely and important subjects for investigation. The specific objective of this study is to determine the levels of HA and HA'ase in unstimulated and stimulated parotid saliva and whole saliva in normal human adults. Toward this end, two rapid, reliable, and sensitive assays based on a cartilage-derived biotinylated HA-binding protein (HABP), will be employed to measure HA and HA'ase concentrations (Fosang et al., 1990; Stern and Stern, In addition, saliva samples will be evaluated for 1992). endogenous HA'ase inhibitors. It is postulated that parotid saliva is a potential source for the tissue HA'ase enzyme previously identified in whole saliva (Hopps and Prout, 1972). Furthermore, the overall goal of this study is to assess in saliva the levels of the major elements involved in HA metabolism under normal, uninjured conditions as a preliminary

en inter North

-

F

-

investigation to define the mechanisms of intraoral wound healing. It is proposed that intraoral wounds heal in a similar manner to scarless fetal wounds in part by the precise regulation of endogenous HA and HA'ase in salivary secretions.

کر کر اک اک اک اک اک اک اک

CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS

I. Description of the Study Population

Individuals participating in this study included 8 male and 2 female normal healthy volunteers between 19 and 34 years of age. Subjects were required to be neither taking medication nor receiving regular medical care for the treatment of systemic disease, to exclude individuals with possible salivary dysfunction or salivary flow interference.

II. Collection of Saliva Samples

Unstimulated and stimulated pure parotid saliva and mixed whole saliva samples were collected under standardized conditions similar to collection methods utilized in salivary flow rate studies (Baum, 1981; Heft and Baum, 1984; Tylenda et al., 1988). Participants were seen for 2 hours at 1 p.m. or 3 p.m. by one clinician (M.L.L.) at the University of California at San Francisco Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Clinic. All subjects were not allowed to have anything by mouth for a minimum of 2 hours prior to saliva collection. This included refraining from eating, drinking, gum chewing, smoking, and oral hygiene procedures.

After the orifice of the left Stenson's duct and surrounding oral mucosa were carefully wiped with a dilute iodine solution (Betadine), parotid saliva was collected first by duct

19

فقسله

4: E+;

e. 4%

1774

26. JA

21 100'

cannulation using a flexible polypropylene sialography catheter (MeadoxSurgimed, Oakland, N.J.). The saliva secreted during the initial 2 minutes of outflow was discarded since during this period salivary components can vary significantly (Dawes, 1969). Approximately 2 ml of parotid saliva was then collected and stored in a separate 15 ml polystyrene conical tube until all samples were obtained on ice to prevent degradation of salivary proteins by digestive enzymes, primarily from microorganisms and degenerating host cells (Soderling, 1989). After collection of parotid saliva, mixed saliva was aspirated from the floor of the mouth utilizing a 10 ml Monojet syringe. All unstimulated secretions were procured first and followed by collection of stimulated samples using 2% citric acid as the gustatory stimulus for salivation. The citrate was applied uniformly over the dorsal surface of the tongue with a cotton swab for 5 seconds in 30 second intervals until approximately 2 to 5 ml of saliva were obtained. The time required to obtain each sample was monitored and the final volume measured.

III. Pretreatment of Saliva Samples

Immediately following collection of all samples, the saliva was prepared for analysis and storage. Each saliva sample was treated with 0.1% ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) to prevent the formation of calcium proteinates which may affect the saliva protein composition (Cowman et al., 1983;

20

.

u.***

at 19-101

* A

n 30°

Е" П^{ат}а (Soderling, 1989). Generally, sugar moieties released from glycoproteins in whole saliva form a calcium-rich protein precipitate with a concomitant increase in saliva viscosity (Soderling, 1989). Furthermore, pure salivary gland secretions also may precipitate after storage in the freezer in the absence of chelating agents. The saliva samples were clarified by centrifugation at 12,400 x g for 20 minutes at 4° C to remove any insoluble material. The supernatents were stored at -20° C until use; after thawing at 4° C, all samples were kept on ice while being prepared for analysis.

IV. Protein Assay

Protein content of each saliva sample was determined by the BioRad Protein Microassay (BioRad Laboratories, Richmond, CA). One hundred sixty microliters (μ l) of a 30-fold dilution of saliva in calcium- and magnesium-free phosphate buffered saline (PBS) was added to 40 μ l of concentrated dye reagent (Coomassie Brilliant Blue G-250, phosphoric acid, methanol) in a 96-well microtiter plate (Costar, Data Packaging, Cambridge, MA) and mixed thoroughly. After 5 - 60 minutes, the absorbance of samples was measured at 595 nanometers (nm) in a Titertek Multiscan Plus MK II automated plate reader (Labsystems, Helsinki, Finland). PBS served as the reagent blank and bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) was used to generate a standard curve. Reported values represent the mean protein content of saliva samples assayed 2.01

p 16-17 . U 4⁻¹* B-1 - 1

11 m

ک •---

84.78⁵ 8

-

in triplicate which were obtained from the standard curve.

V. ELISA-like Assay for Hyaluronan

Quantitation of the HA content in saliva was determined using an ELISA-like assay as described by Fosang et al. (1990). This procedure is modeled after the basic concept of a In brief, a fixed amount of HA is competitive ELISA. immobilized on a solid support, and a fixed quantity of a HAspecific indicator molecule is allowed to competitively bind to HA attached to the support or in the test solution. Prepared from human umbilical cords, HA (ICN Biochemicals, Costa Mesa, CA) was applied first to a microtiter plate. One hundred μ l aliquots of 0.1 mg/ml HA in 0.42 mM Nhydroxysulfosuccinimide (Pierce) and 3.2 mM 1-ethyl-3-(3dimethylaminopropyl) carbodiimide (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) were adsorbed to the 96-well microtiter plate (Covalink-NH, Nunc) for 17 hours at 4° C. After the coupling of HA to the wells, the plates were rinsed three times with a solution of 2 M sodium chloride (NaCl) and 41 mM magnesium sulfate in PBS (Buffer A). All subsequent incubations were followed by triplicate washes using Buffer B which consisted of Buffer A with the addition of 0.05% Tween 20 (Fisher Scientific, Fair Lawn, NJ).

A biotinylated HABP served as the indicator molecule, similar to a labeled antibody, to "competitively" bind HA in saliva - 12 -

9**4**1+ - '

1.200° 8'

NT IN THE

.....

F. 184

1-10-1-S

samples and subsequently decrease the HABP available to bind to HA-coated wells.

Using a modified technique of Tengblad (1979), HABP was prepared from bovine nasal cartilage (Pel Freeze, Rogers, AZ) and biotinylated according to Stern (1993). This cartilagederived peptide from proteoglycan core protein specifically and irreversibly binds to HA (Goldberg, 1988). Hence, when coupled to an immunoperoxidase-linked avidin-biotin reaction, this complex is easily detected. An equal volume of undiluted saliva sample and diluted biotinylated HABP were incubated at 37°C for 1 hour. HABP was diluted 100-fold in 25 mM sodium phosphate, 1.5 NaCl, 0.3 M guanidine-HCl, 0.08% BSA, and 0.02% sodium azide, pH 7.0. A standard curve for each ELISA plate was established using serial dilutions of Healon^K, a highly purified, high molecular weight fraction of sodium hyaluronate (Pharmacia AB, Uppsala, Sweden) prepared in PBS. A negative control to serve as reagent blank and positive control to determine the maximal binding of HABP to HA fixed onto the plate were included also.

Following blocking of nonspecific binding with 300 μ l/well of 0.5% nonfat dry milk in PBS at 37°C for 30 minutes, 100 μ l of the samples preincubated with HABP were added to the plate in triplicate. The remaining biotinylated HABP in the sample was allowed to bind to the HA-coated wells for 1 hour at 37°C and

التغري

y ≠*•

-

n-1-

then to be detected utilizing the avidin-biotin-peroxidase technique. The avidin-biotin complex (ABC) reagent (Vector, Burlingame, CA) was prepared in PBS containing 0.1% Tween 20 as directed and 100 μ l/well of the reagent was incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature. Finally, after five thorough washes with Buffer Β, the substrate, 0.5 mq/ml 0phenylenediamine (Calbiochem, San Diego, CA) in 33 mM citrate, 67 mM dibasic sodium phosphate, pH 5.3, and 0.015% hydrogen peroxide, was added to complete the enzymatic reaction. Utilizing a Titertek Multiscan Plus MK II automated plate reader, absorbance values were obtained at 492 nm. Reported mean saliva HA concentrations represent the remaining percentage of biotinylated HABP bound to the plate as related to the standard curve for known concentrations of Healon" HA.

VI. ELISA-like Assay for Hyaluronidase Activity

Developed in our laboratory by Stern and Stern (1992), the ELISA-like assay for hyaluronidase activity has been shown to be 10,000 times more sensitive than the Reissig technique (Reissig et al., 1955) which has been the most widely employed procedure in years past. Based upon the hydrolysis of HA adsorbed to microtiter plates by HA'ase, the first step of the assay involved the addition of equal portions of 0.4 mg/ml HA (ICN Biochemicals, Costa Mesa, CA) dissolved in water and 0.2 M carbonate buffer, pH 9.2. One hundred μ l aliquots of this coating solution were adsorbed to 96-well microtiter plates

24

م معدد

M. Saraf

integra

3'4*• 3'** 1

17-56

5 1772

1 1 **1** 1 1

(Costar, Data packaging, Cambridge, MA) for 17 hours at 4°C. Following three rinses with PBS, triplicate 100 μ l aliquots of diluted saliva samples and *Streptomyces* hyaluronidase (Calbiochem, San Diego, CA) were incubated at 37°C for 17 hours to allow HA hydrolysis to proceed. Each assay plate included serial dilutions of *Streptomyces* hyaluronidase in 0.5 M sodium acetate, 0.05 M NaCl, and 0.02% BSA at pH 5.0 (Stern, 1993) to establish a standard curve. Negative and positive controls were included for each assay plate similar to those used in the ELISA-like assay for HA. The rates of HA hydrolysis by enzyme preparations were both dose- and timedependent, demonstrating that a valid unit of enzyme activity was actually being observed.

To characterize the optimal conditions for salivary HA'ase activity, a 10-fold dilution of saliva was prepared in various buffers. Characterization included comparison of different enzymatic buffers, range of pH, and salt and albumin concentrations. Prepared according to Gomori (1955) with minor modifications, 0.5 M sodium acetate, 0.05 M citrate-0.1 M sodium phosphate, 0.1 M sodium phosphate, and 0.1 M sodium formate enzymatic buffers were evaluated first at various pH values ranging from pH 3.7 to 6.8. Each buffer also contained 0.05 M NaCl and 0.02% BSA. Because collected saliva limited, characterization assays quantities were were performed primarily with samples collected from one

25

الحس

مود ا

....

و جو ا

10.00

الا نرورو

N CON

-

individual. Upon confirmation of the optimal enzymatic buffer for both the parotid and whole saliva, the effects of various salt concentrations ranging from 0 to 0.5 M were examined in the presence of 0.02% BSA. Next, to verify the pH optima for salivary HA'ase, the range of pH values was extended from pH 3.3 to 7.3. Further characterization of the HA'ase activity included investigating the contribution of albumin ranging from 0 to 0.2% BSA by assaying saliva under the optimal conditions determined in the previous experiments. Upon determining the buffers for optimal enzymatic activity, each solution was examined using a 1:10 dilution of saliva to confirm that the buffering capacity was sufficient throughout the enzymatic reaction.

The newly defined conditions for optimal salivary HA'ase activity were utilized to assay the remaining saliva samples. Unstimulated and stimulated parotid saliva samples were assayed in a buffer consisting of 0.05 M citrate, 0.1 M sodium phosphate, 0.5 M NaCl, and 0.02% BSA at pH 3.7. Since two peaks of HA'ase activity at different pH values were detected in mixed saliva, all unstimulated and stimulated samples were assayed under both conditions as follows: 0.05 M citrate, 0.1 M sodium phosphate, 0.05 M NaCl, 0.02% BSA at pH 4.0 and 0.1 M sodium phosphate, 0.05 M NaCl at pH 6.8. To exclude the contribution of any exoglycosidase activity, 1 mM saccharic acid 1,4-lactone (Sigma) was added to each of the optimally بر بدری: محص

0**1**=; (

, ...

. معمد ا

> د. هور ا
defined buffers.

Following HA hydrolysis incubation, the plate was rinsed three times with PBS and non-specific binding was blocked as described for the ELISA-like assay for HA. Detection of the remaining HA in the plate following HA'ase digestion was performed using 100 μ l/well of biotinylated HABP diluted 40fold at 37°C for 1 hour.

Because of the keratan sulfate chains present on the HABP (Figure 2-1), the biotinylated signal was amplified using an anti-keratan sulfate (α -KS) monoclonal antibody and a secondary biotinylated antibody. Prior to each of the remaining incubations, the plate was rinsed three times with PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20. One hundred μ /well of α -KS (Seikagaku Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) diluted 1:1000 in PBS with 0.1% Tween 20 were added and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. The secondary antibody, biotinylated anti-mouse IgG (Vector, Burlingame, CA) diluted 1:200 in PBS with 0.01% Tween 20, was added in 100 μ l aliquots and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. Detection of the biotinylated complex was accomplished in the identical manner as described previously for the ELISA-like assay for HA.

The relative hyaluronidase activity represents the difference

س خر

ابرية ال الريان

**: •

- مصبح

and the second

197-2-14

I SOLAR S



Figure 2-1: ELISA-like assay for HA'ase activity (Stern and Stern, 1992). Schematic diagram represents detection of HA remaining following enzymatic degradation by HA'ase. A cartilage-derived biotinylated HABP specifically and irreversibly binds to HA on microtiter plate. The biotinylated signal is amplified by detection of keratan sulfate (KS) chains located on the HABP using an anti-keratan sulfate (α -KS) monoclonal primary antibody and biotinylated secondary antibody (α -mouse Ig).

in absorbance between control wells with no HA'ase exposure and sample wells containing the enzyme. The units of salivary HA'ase activity are expressed in National Formulary Units (NFU) which is defined as the amount of enzymatic activity required to reduce turbidity by 50% in 30 minutes, representing 50% hydrolysis of the substrate.

Since the salivary hyaluronidase activity was detected at low levels, saliva was lyophilized, concentrated 10-fold by resuspension in 0.85% NaCl (Cowman et al., 1983), and assayed under optimal enzymatic conditions. Due to limited quantities of pure parotid saliva, only mixed saliva was examined.

To establish the integrity of the salivary HA'ase, different conditions were investigated. To determine the effect of storage conditions (- 20°C) on salivary HA'ase activity, mixed saliva was evaluated following multiple rounds of freezing and thawing. In addition, the prevention of protease degradation in mixed saliva was investigated in the presence of a 1:50 dilution of protease inhibitor cocktail (PIC) consisting of 0.8 M EDTA, 2 M Tris, 1 mM p-hydroxy-mercuribenzoate (Sigma), 1 mM benzamidine hydrochloride (Kodak), and 5 mM Nethylmaleimide (Sigma). Furthermore, following a 2.5 hour incubation at 37°C, mixed saliva was assayed for the HA'ase activity remaining.

29

میر ۲۰ میر

1945 🖋

1912-1913 1912-1913

1

- C.

HA'ase inhibitors may be present in saliva and thus, 2.5×10^{-4} NFU/ml Streptomyces HA'ase was assayed for activity with unstimulated parotid or whole saliva serially diluted in the bacterial enzyme buffer. The percent inhibition was calculated as follows: $I = 1 - [(A_{max} - A_{sample}) / (A_{max} - A_{min})]$ where A_{max} represents the absorbance of wells without exposure to HA'ase, A_{min} is the absorbance of wells with exposure to HA'ase and no inhibitor, and A_{sample} is the absorbance of wells exposed to both HA'ase and sample containing inhibitor (Stern and Stern, 1992).

VII. Dot Blot Analysis

Immunorecognition of salivary hyaluronidase was performed by dot blot analysis using polyclonal antibodies against commercially purified bovine testicular HA'ase prepared by colleagues in the laboratory (Gakunga, unpublished data). Two μ l of undiluted parotid and mixed saliva were spotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (BioRad Laboratories, Richmond, CA). Serial dilutions of bovine testicular HA'ase (Wydase) in PBS were included as positive controls while 3% BSA (Sigma) served as the negative control.

To block non-specific binding, the dry membrane was incubated in PBS containing 0.01% Tween 20 for 30 minutes. All incubations were performed on an orbital shaker (American Rotator) at room temperature and followed by two rinses with مستشو

ایرر ۹ او سفنو

14, **"**

.

-

0.1% Tween 20 in PBS for 5 minutes each. Since the commercial bovine testicular HA'ase was found to contain albumin, the HA'ase antibody preparation was purified first using an Affigel 10 column to remove any anti-albumin antibodies that may have been present. Additionally, a 100-fold dilution of anti-HA'ase antibody was incubated in a 1:1 mixture of PBS + 0.1% Tween 20 and 3% BSA for 30 minutes prior to exposure to the membrane. The membrane was then incubated with this primary polyclonal antibody, anti-bovine testicular HA'ase, solution for 30 minutes. A biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Vector, Burlingame, CA), diluted 1:200 in equal volumes of PBS + 0.1% Tween 20 and 3% BSA, served as the secondary antibody to detect the bound anti-HA'ase antibody in a 30 minute incubation. Colorized detection of the biotinylated secondary antibody was achieved using the ABC reagents (Vector, Burlingame, CA) prepared in 0.1% Tween 20 in PBS for and followed by the addition of 30 minutes 3,3' diaminobenzidine (DAB) (Vector, Burlingame, CA) as substrate which was utilized according to the manufacturer's instructions.

م سنتو

> يريورو المحمو

> W; ,

تعاجري

CHAPTER 3: RESULTS

I. Pretreatment and Storage of Saliva for Analysis of Enzyme Activity

Initial experiments focused on the preservation of saliva samples to ensure that the HA'ase enzymatic activity could be maintained. Because some proteins can become trapped (Soderling, 1989), the removal of salivary sediment by centrifugation was investigated to determine its effect on HA'ase activity. In addition, since calcium-rich protein precipitates often form in whole saliva, as well as in pure salivary secretions following storage at - 20°C (Soderling, 1989), treatment with 0.1% EDTA (Cowman et al., 1983) was evaluated. Figure 3-1 demonstrates the enhanced HA'ase activity in whole saliva following treatment with 0.1% EDTA and clarification by centrifugation. In addition, storage of the saliva at - 20°C prior to pretreatment had little effect on HA'ase activity. Furthermore, the addition of 0.1% EDTA had no effect on the activity of Streptomyces HA'ase standards.

As shown in Figure 3-2, consecutive rounds of freezing and thawing had no deleterious effect on HA'ase activity in mixed saliva. However, the addition of a protease inhibitor cocktail slightly decreased the HA'ase activity and thus, was not included in saliva samples (Figure 3-3). The ability of

32

177 m

ایریها او طوح

H.

• . .

الله شيغ

مرجو

. . .



Figure 3-1: Comparison of HA'ase activity in pretreated saliva samples. Unstimulated whole saliva samples were assayed for HA'ase activity in citrate-phosphate buffer, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 3.7 following different pretreatment procedures. The various conditions examined included (listed in the order of treatment): untreated (UT); no centrifugation (-C) with 0.1% EDTA (+E); centrifugation (+C)with no EDTA (-E);centrifugation (+C) with 0.1% EDTA (+E); 0.1% EDTA (+E) with centrifugation (+C). Samples were also assayed for HA'ase activity with storage at - $20^{\circ}C$ (+F) prior to pretreatment procedures. Optimal activity was obtained in the presence of 0.1% EDTA followed by centrifugation.



Effect of Storage Conditions on Salivary HA'ase Activity

Figure 3-2: Salivary HA'ase activity following multiple freeze-thaw cycles. After 3 consecutive rounds of freezing in an 1:1 ethanol and propanol/dry ice mixture and thawing at 4°C, aliquots of each round were compared with untreated whole saliva for HA'ase activity in citrate-phosphate buffer, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 3.7. Multiple freeze-thaw cycles had little effect on apparent activity.



Figure 3-3: Assessment of HA'ase Activity with PIC or a prolonged 37°C incubation. Samples of unstimulated whole saliva were evaluated for maintenance of HA'ase activity in citrate-phosphate buffer, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 3.7 with the addition of a 1:50 dilution of PIC or a 2.5 hour incubation at 37°C without PIC. An approximate 10% reduction in activity was apparent with PIC whereas little effect on activity was observed with a prolonged 37°C incubation.

salivary HA'ase to endure a prolonged incubation period (2.5 hours) at $37^{\circ}C$ was confirmed also.

II. Protein Concentration

Unstimulated parotid saliva exhibited the highest protein concentration at 1.15 ± 0.58 mg/ml (mean \pm standard deviation) (range 0.43 - 2.22 mg/ml) as determined by the BioRad Protein Microassay (Figure 3-4). The protein content in stimulated parotid saliva showed a tendency to decrease with a mean concentration of 0.95 ± 0.61 mg/ml (range 0.03 - 1.83 mg/ml). However, this trend was not apparent in unstimulated and stimulated whole saliva samples which contained 0.98 ± 0.28 mg/ml (range 0.64 - 1.64 mg/ml) and 1.26 ± 0.49 mg/ml (range 0.59 - 2.12 mg/ml) protein, respectively.

III. Determination of Hyaluronan Concentration in Parotid Saliva and Mixed Saliva

The ELISA-like assay for HA was utilized to determine the HA levels in saliva samples as shown in Figure 3-5. The greatest HA levels were detected in unstimulated whole saliva with a mean concentration of 459.2 ± 338.1 ng/ml (range 148 - 1270 ng/ml) (Figure 3-5A). Mean HA concentrations decreased to 175.7 ± 105.9 ng/ml (range 73 - 375 ng/ml) in stimulated whole saliva secretions. However, slightly elevated levels of HA were detected in 2 individuals. The mean HA content for unstimulated and stimulated parotid saliva was 98.3 ± 85.7

20

مرب در ل

5 e

984 Z

1



Figure 3-4: Distribution of protein content in unstimulated and stimulated parotid saliva and whole saliva. Each sample was diluted 1:30 and assayed using the BioRad Protein Microassay kit according to the manufacturers instructions. Salivary protein concentrations (mg/ml) were determined relative to absorbance values (OD₅₉₅) obtained for the BSA standard curve. A slight decrease in protein content was apparent in stimulated parotid saliva as compared to the unstimulated parotid samples. This trend was not observed in whole saliva samples. 2.14

r -65

Protein Concentration of Saliva



A. HA Concentration in Whole Saliva

Figure 3-5: Distribution of hyaluronan content in unstimulated and stimulated (A) whole saliva and (B) parotid saliva. The mean HA content of 10 subjects was determined by the ELISAlike assay for HA using a biotinylated HABP as the indicator molecule. Absorbance values (OD_{402}) were compared to a Healon^R HA standard curve to determine the HA content (ng/ml) in saliva samples. Unstimulated saliva has higher levels of HA in both whole and parotid saliva.



B. HA Concentration in Parotid Saliva

ł.

y 13

ng/ml (range 37 - 307 ng/ml) and 82.7 \pm 33.4 ng/ml (range 40 - 150 ng/ml), respectively (Figure 3-5B). Although the mean HA concentration appeared to decrease in stimulated parotid saliva, 8 subjects displayed approximately equivalent or increased HA content in the stimulated secretions.

IV. Characterization of Hyaluronidase Activity in Parotid Saliva and Mixed Saliva

In the initial screen of whole saliva for the presence of HA'ase activity in citrate-phosphate buffer, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 3.7 or phosphate buffer, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 6.2, HA'ase activity was detected only in the citrate-phosphate buffer as measured by the ELISA-like HA'ase assay (data not shown). Hence, this buffer was used to demonstrate the proportional dosedependence of HA'ase in whole saliva as seen in Figure 3-6. Linearity began at a 1:10 dilution of saliva and thus, all samples were prepared at this concentration to measure HA'ase activity throughout the remainder of the investigation. This was in accordance with Afify et al. (1993) in that any biological extract must be diluted first to demonstrate this proportionality to HA'ase enzyme activity.

Several enzymatic solutions were compared for optimal salivary HA'ase activity since each varies with the pH range of buffering capacity. The preliminary pH profile of unstimulated whole saliva revealed two peaks of activity in

40

10⁺ 10

.

arent a

line :

5**7** *



Figure 3-6: Dose-dependence of HA'ase activity in whole saliva. Serial 1:3 dilutions of unstimulated whole saliva in citrate-phosphate buffer, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 6.2 were examined for activity using the ELISA-like assay for HA'ase. Linearity began approximately at a 1:10 dilution of saliva which was subsequently used for all remaining HA'ase assays.

citrate-phosphate buffer, pH 3.7 and phosphate buffer, pH 6.8 (Figure 3-7). Each buffer contained 0.05 M NaCl and 0.02% BSA. However, under both conditions, no HA'ase activity was detected in parotid saliva at the low salt concentration. Including a comparison with formate buffer, a similar pattern of results for whole saliva samples was obtained using a 0.5 M NaCl concentration in the enzymatic buffer (data not shown).

Investigation of the effects of salt concentration on enzymatic activity revealed interesting differences between parotid and mixed saliva. Unstimulated whole saliva demonstrated elevated HA'ase activity levels in 0.05 M NaCl at the acidic peak of activity while the neutral peak showed little effect of differing salt concentrations (Figure 3-8A). In comparison, unstimulated parotid saliva displayed activity only in citrate-phosphate buffer containing 0.5 M NaCl at pH 3.7 (Figure 3-8B). Because of the importance of high salt concentrations for HA'ase activity in parotid saliva, a comparison of different enzyme buffers at pH 3.7 confirmed that citrate-phosphate buffer was optimal for this enzyme (Figure 3-9).

A more detailed pH profile ranging from pH 3.3 to 7.3 of unstimulated parotid and mixed saliva is shown in Figure 3-10. Whole saliva demonstrated a slight shift in the acidic activity peak to pH 4.0 while the neutral activity peak

42



Figure 3-7: Comparison of pH and enzymatic buffers for optimal salivary HA'ase activity. Various enzymatic buffers were evaluated within their maximal range of buffering capacity for optimal HA'ase activity in unstimulated whole saliva and parotid saliva. All buffers contained 0.05 M NaCl and 0.02% BSA. A bimodal distribution was apparent in whole saliva. No activity was detected in parotid saliva.



pH and salt curve of whole saliva and parotid Figure 3-8: saliva. A comparison of citrate-phosphate buffer, pH 3.7 and pH 5.0, to phosphate buffer, pH 6.2 and pH 6.8, at various salt concentrations examined the HA'ase activity in unstimulated (A) whole saliva and (B) parotid saliva. A11 buffers contained 0.02% BSA. Two major peaks activity were observed at pH 3.7 and 6.8 in whole saliva whereas parotid saliva displayed activity only at pH 3.7.



•



Effect of Various Buffers on Parotid HA'ase Activity

Figure 3-9: Comparison of enzymatic buffers at pH 3.7 for optimal salivary HA'ase activity in unstimulated parotid saliva. Acetate, citrate-phosphate, and formate buffers containing 0.5 M NaCl and 0.02% BSA were assessed to determine the optimal conditions for parotid HA'ase activity. Citratephosphate buffer appeared to be the optimal buffer for the acid-active HA'ase in parotid saliva.



Figure 3-10: Extended pH curve for whole saliva and parotid saliva. (A) Unstimulated whole saliva demonstrated two major peaks of HA'ase activity, pH 4.0 and pH 6.8, when assayed in enzymatic buffers containing 0.05 M NaCl and 0.02% BSA. Again, a bimodal pH curve of optimal enzyme activity was apparent. (B) Unstimulated parotid saliva exhibited one activity peak at pH 3.7 in the presence of 0.5 M NaCl and 0.02% BSA. A unique pH profile for parotid saliva HA'ase was evident by its optimal activity only at low pH.



remained at pH 6.8. This shift in the acidic peak of activity was confirmed in whole saliva from two other individuals (data not shown). Parotid saliva reproducibly exhibited peak HA'ase activity at pH 3.7 with no indication of the presence of any neutral enzyme.

The contribution of albumin to HA'ase activity was examined. Parotid and whole saliva samples were diluted in the optimally defined buffer, thus far, and assayed with increasing concentrations of BSA. A unique phenomenon was apparent in comparing the different HA'ase activities of parotid and whole saliva (Figure 3-11 and 3-12). Although the acidic HA'ase activity in both parotid and whole saliva appeared to increase with the addition of 0.02% BSA, the neutral activity in whole saliva tended to decrease by a mean 42% as compared to the complete exclusion of BSA in the dilution buffer.

The effect of concentration of whole saliva by lyophilization was studied with hope of increasing the detectable levels of activity in the ELISA-like assay for HA'ase. Following lyophilization and resuspension at a 10-fold concentration, neutral HA'ase activity was less than doubled as indicated in Figure 3-13.

V. Hyaluronidase Activity in Parotid Saliva and Mixed Saliva Following definition of the optimal conditions for HA'ase



Figure 3-11: Whole saliva HA'ase activity in the presence of various concentrations of BSA. Unstimulated whole saliva was evaluated for optimal activity in (A) citrate-phosphate buffer, 0.05 M NaCl, pH 3.7 and (B) phosphate buffer, 0.05 M NaCl, pH 6.8. Samples from 3 subjects are shown. The acidactive enzyme appeared to exhibit elevated HA'ase activity with 0.02% BSA whereas the neutral-active enzyme tended to be optimally active in the absence of BSA.



Effect of BSA on Salivary HA'ase Activity



Figure 3-12: Parotid saliva HA'ase activity in the presence of various concentrations of BSA. Assay conditions for unstimulated parotid saliva consisted of citrate-phosphate buffer, 0.5 M NaCl, pH 3.7. Samples from 3 subjects are shown. Enzyme activity appeared to be greatest with 0.02% BSA.



Effect of Concentration on Salivary HA'ase Activity

Figure 3-13: Comparison of HA'ase activity between untreated and concentrated samples. Unstimulated whole saliva was lyophilized, concentrated 10-fold, and assayed for neutral HA'ase activity. Less than a 2-fold increase in activity was apparent following concentration of saliva. activity in parotid and mixed saliva, the activity levels were determined for 10 individuals in both unstimulated and stimulated samples. As shown in Figure 3-14, acidic enzyme activity was detected in unstimulated parotid saliva in 4 subjects of whom 2 subjects also exhibited activity in stimulated samples. Unstimulated and stimulated whole saliva samples were assayed at both pH optima and revealed HA'ase activity as indicated in Figure 3-15. Unstimulated whole saliva from 6 subjects demonstrated HA'ase activity at pH 4.0 whereas only 3 subjects displayed activity at pH 6.8. Although neutral enzymatic activity was not present in stimulated whole saliva, analysis showed 2 subjects with acidic HA'ase activity. Similar to parotid saliva, the HA'ase activity present in stimulated whole saliva samples was detected in the same subjects displaying activity in unstimulated samples.

The mean HA'ase activities for unstimulated and stimulated parotid and whole saliva samples displaying levels greater than zero are reported in Table 3-1. Stimulated parotid saliva exhibited slightly increased total levels of HA'ase activity (NFU/ml) as compared to unstimulated samples. However, the relative HA'ase activity, reported in NFU/gm protein, demonstrated decreased levels in stimulated parotid saliva compared to unstimulated samples. Although relative HA'ase activity increased in stimulated samples, the total

54

-

14 346

-



Figure 3-14: Distribution of HA'ase activity in unstimulated and stimulated parotid saliva. The mean relative HA'ase activity (NFU/gm protein) was determined in 10 subjects utilizing the optimally defined buffer which contained 0.05 M citrate, 0.1 M phosphate, 0.5 M NaCl, 0.02% BSA, 1 mM saccharic acid 1,4-lactone, pH 3.7. The mean relative HA'ase activity in unstimulated saliva samples displaying detectable levels tended to be slightly higher than in stimulated samples.



Figure 3-15: Distribution of HA'ase activity in unstimulated and stimulated whole saliva. The mean relative HA'ase activity (NFU/gm protein) was determined in 10 subjects utilizing the optimally defined buffers which contained either 0.05 M citrate, 0.1 M phosphate, 0.05 M NaCl, 0.02% BSA, pH 4.0 or 0.1 M phosphate, 0.05 M NaCl, pH 6.8. Each buffer included 1 mM saccharic acid 1,4-lactone. Although the acidactive enzyme was detected in more subjects, the neutralactive HA'ase appeared to exhibit an elevated mean relative HA'ase activity in the samples in which it was detected.

UNSTIMULATED

STIMULATED

HA'ase ACTIVITY	Total NFU x 10-3/ml	Relative NFU/gm protein	Total NFU x 10-3/ml	Relative NFU/gm protein
PAROTID pH 3.7	0.051 ± 0.017	0.393 ± 0.181	0.059 ± 0.004	0.341 ± 0.050
WHOLE pH 4.0	0.056 ± 0.025	0.682 ± 0.389	0.056 ± 0.041	0.855 ± 0.842
WHOLE pH 6.8	0.068 ± 0.002	0.796 ± 0.265	0	0

Table 3-1 : Hyaluronidase Activity in Saliva

Reported values represent the mean ± standard deviation HA'ase activity of the saliva samples in which the enzyme was detected. Total and relative HA'ase activity are given in NFU/mI and NFU/gm protein, respectively.

57

UUUI

levels of acidic enzyme activity in unstimulated and stimulated whole saliva were comparable. Interestingly, neutral HA'ase activity was detected only in unstimulated whole saliva. In both cases, total and relative HA'ase activity in unstimulated whole saliva tended to show increased neutral HA'ase activity relative to the acidic enzyme activity.

The presence of endogenous HA'ase inhibitors was investigated by measurement of commercially purified *Streptomyces* HA'ase activity with the addition of increasing quantities of saliva sample. Figure 3-16 demonstrates the presence of HA'ase inhibitors in both parotid saliva and whole saliva which were capable of masking the activity of the purified *Streptomyces* HA'ase. Using a 1:10 dilution of saliva as was utilized in the ELISA-like HA'ase assays, parotid saliva and whole saliva inhibited *Streptomyces* HA'ase activity by a mean value of 64% for all samples. With the exception of one sample, saliva secretions exhibiting HA'ase activity demonstrated decreased levels of inhibition than those samples lacking enzymatic activity (Table 3-2).

VI. Dot Blot Analysis

Immunorecognition of salivary HA'ase was achieved using polyclonal antibodies against purified bovine testicular HA'ase as indicated in Figure 3-17. All unstimulated and

58

ت من ا

5.**9**

1 -

1 3176

1 214

لتحصره ا



Log Saliva Dilution

Figure 3-16: Demonstration of HA'ase inhibitors in saliva. Increasing amounts of unstimulated whole saliva (A) and parotid saliva (B) samples were assayed for their ability to inhibit activity of commercially purified Streptomyces HA'ase. The incubation buffer consisted of 0.5 M acetate, 0.05 M NaCl, 0.02% BSA, pH 5.0. Samples from 4 subjects exhibiting either negative activity positive or HA'ase were analyzed. Inhibition of Streptomyces HA'ase activity was apparent in both whole and parotid saliva samples in which HA'ase activity had or had not been detected previously by the ELISA-like assay for HA'ase.



Inhibition of Streptomyces HA'ase Activity B. Parotid Saliva 60

.

• * * • •

;

UUVI LIU

	%ا	66.1	88.9	47.4	53.4	
WHOLE PH 6.8	HA'ase	+		,	ı	
WHOLE pH 4.0	HA'ase	+			+	
D pH 3.7	%ا	43.4	82.9	72.9	56.6	
PAROTI	HA'ase	+			+	
PATIENT		4	Q	7	10	Toble 0 0 . I

Table 3-2 : Inhibition of Streptomyces HA'ase Activity

detected are reported with the corresponding percent inhibition (%I) of 2.5 x 10 ⁻⁴ NFU/mI *Streptomyces* HA'ase activity in the presence of a 1:10 dilution of saliva. Most saliva samples containing HA'ase activity tended to show decreased inhibition levels as compared to samples lacking enzymatic activity. Enzymatic assay results of 4 individuals in which HA'ase activity was positively (+) or negatively (-)

61

	1	2	3	4	5	(-)
6	7	8	9	10	(+)	1:2
1:4	1:8	1:16	1:32	1:64	1:128	8

KEY

Patient # 1 - 10 = saliva sample (-) = Negative control: 3% BSA (+) = Positive control: 150 NFU/mI bovine testicular HA'ase 1:2 - 1:128 = Serial 1:2 dilutions of bovine testicular HA'ase

Figure 3-17: Dot blot analysis for detection of salivary HA'ase. Polyclonal antibodies against purified bovine testicular HA'ase were utilized to detect HA'ase in unstimulated (-) and stimulated (+) parotid saliva (P) and whole (W) saliva of all 10 subjects. 3% BSA and serial 1:2 dilutions of purified bovine testicular HA'ase were included as negative and positive controls, respectively. All saliva samples reacted positively with the anti-HA'ase antibody indicating HA'ase was present in each saliva sample, independent of whether enzyme activity was detected or not.


UNUL LIUINI

stimulated parotid and whole saliva samples reacted positively with this polyclonal antibody. In an attempt to quantitate the salivary HA'ase, a comparison of reaction intensities to serial dilutions of bovine testicular HA'ase permitted an estimation. Unstimulated parotid saliva and whole saliva samples reacted with similar intensity to the 37.5-75 NFU/ml range for bovine testicular HA'ase. Although more difficult to estimate definitively, samples of stimulated saliva displayed a slight decrease in reactivity within the range of 18.8 - 37.5 NFU/ml of bovine testicular HA'ase.

NUL LIUN

CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

65

こうつ

As an essential macromolecule of the ECM, HA functions not only as a structural moiety, but also participates in several fundamental biological processes including cellular growth, development, and repair of tissues. In particular, HA levels escalate whenever rapid tissue proliferation, regeneration, and repair occur (Longaker and Adzick, 1991). Furthermore, the catabolism of HA by its degradative enzyme HA'ase is critically important because of its role in signalling a change from cellular proliferation to cellular differentiation in morphogenesis as well as in healing wounds (Toole et al., 1972; Bertolami and Donoff, 1978; 1982; Alexander and Donoff, 1979; Thet et al., 1983). Hence, the regulation of HA metabolism may represent an intricate balance between factors which direct HA production (Decker et al., 1989) and those responsible for its degradation by HA'ases.

The healing properties of saliva have been recognized by many investigators (Hutson et al., 1979; Li et al., 1980; Niall et al., 1982; Hart and Powell, 1990; Bodner, 1991). However, little study has been devoted to the presence and possible roles of HA and HA'ase in intraoral wound healing. This study establishes baseline levels of HA in normal adult human pure parotid saliva and mixed whole saliva. Additionally, although HA'ases of both tissue and microbial origin have been reported in whole saliva (Hopps and Prout, 1972), identification of HA'ase activity in parotid saliva has not been described previously. Moreover, in this study HA'ase was detected in both whole and parotid saliva samples by a polyclonal HA'ase antibody further supporting the presence of salivary HA'ase, particularly in parotid secretions.

I. Hyaluronan Levels in Saliva

With the advent of new techniques with increased sensitivity and specificity, detection of HA has become possible in several tissues and body fluids including human umbilical cord, synovial fluid, vitreous body, dermis, lymph, urine, and serum (Laurent and Fraser, 1986). Based on a high affinity biotinylated HA-binding peptide of proteoglycan core protein derived from bovine nasal cartilage, an ELISA-like assay (Fosang et al., 1990) was utilized to determine HA levels in saliva samples. Unstimulated whole saliva and parotid saliva (459.2 ng/ml and 98.3 ng/ml, respectively) contained HA at concentrations that were comparable to levels reported in other human bodily fluids. For example, HA concentrations in urine range from 100 - 500 ng/ml whereas human serum HA levels are somewhat lower ranging from 10 - 100 ng/ml (Laurent and Fraser, 1986). The increased quantity of HA in whole saliva may be attributed to the HA contributions from all salivary sources since whole saliva, often referred to as mixed saliva, consists of output from the three major salivary glands, the

66

parotid, submandibular, and sublingual, as well as the numerous minor salivary glands.

By its physical properties alone, HA functions to maintain the integrity of connective tissues. In aqueous solution, HA displays an immense capacity to hold water and small molecules (Sweeney and Weiss, 1992) resulting in an increased viscosity. Demonstrating strong shear-dependence and visco-elastic behavior, HA serves as a excellent lubricant of joints and tissues (Laurent and Fraser, 1992). Although the HA content in saliva is relatively low compared to other fluids such as human synovial fluid (1420 -3600 mg/L) (Laurent and Fraser, 1986), its mere presence in saliva may contribute to the functional quality of saliva. The major function of saliva is to protect the oral cavity through its lubricating properties, selective permeability, buffering capacity, role in taste recognition noxious substances, and antibacterial of characteristics (Ten Cate, 1985; Herrera et al., 1988). The high glycoprotein content and lubricating properties of saliva serve to protect against microbial toxins, noxious stimuli, and minor trauma. This protective capacity may be enhanced by HA since it also functions as a lubricant (Laurent and Fraser, 1992). Alternatively, HA in saliva may result from localized turnover in the salivary gland tissues which is subsequently secreted. Preliminary attempts to concentrate HA in parotid saliva by Centricon-10 ultrafiltration techniques (molecular

67

ĺ

weight cut off = 10,000) resulted in over 50% of the original HA sample as low molecular weight components which may represent secreted oligosaccharide cleavage products (data not shown). Further investigation is necessary to confirm this observation which may be possible by molecular-sieve chromatography using a CL4B sepharose column.

II. Hyaluronidase Activity of Tissue and Bacterial Origin

Several HA'ases have been detected in both mammalian and nonmammalian tissues and fluids. Mammalian enzymatic activity has been observed in the kidney, liver, lung, placenta, synovial fluid, serum, and urine; however, the most abundant source has been the testis (Bollet et al., 1963; Yamada et al., 1977; Sahu, 1981; Gold, 1982; Fenger, 1982). Each of these enzymes, with the exception of testicular HA'ase, is acid-active and thus, is presumed to originate from the Interestingly, the testicular enzyme (Yang and lysosome. Srivistava, 1975) and the more recently discovered cultured human dermal fibroblast HA'ase (Stair, 1993) display neutral activity. Other sources of neutral-active enzymes include prokaryotes (Abramson, 1967; Greiling et al., 1975; Fitzgerald and Repesh, 1987; Hynes and Ferretti, 1989; Sting et al, 1990) and non-mammalian organisms such as the bee, leech, and snake (Richman and Baer, 1980; Fiszer-Szafarz, 1984; Yuki and Fishman, 1963; Budds et al., 1987; Pukrittayakamee, 1988).

68

ĺ

In the oral cavity, HA'ases of both tissue and microbial origin have been reported to exist. For example, normal buccal mucosa of rabbits exhibited an intrinsic HA'ase activity with an acidic pH optimum indicating a lysosomal enzyme (Bertolami and Ellis, 1985). In contrast, neutral HA'ase activity associated with several species of oral bacteria in dental plaque has been confirmed by many investigators (Schultz-Haudt and Scherp, 1955; Soder and Nord, 1969; Kjellman et al., 1971; Tam and Chan, 1985; Tipler and Embery, 1985).

III. Hyaluronidase and Periodontal Disease

Considerable attention has been focused on the role of various enzymes such as collagenase and HA'ase in connective tissue alterations evident in gingivitis and periodontal disease. Increased breakdown of collagen, a major structural component of the periodontal ECM and ECM in general, has been reported as evidenced by elevated levels of collagenase in periodontal patients (Ando, 1980).

Several analogies between collagenase and HA'ase can be made because of their contribution to localized remodeling of the ECM. As a member of the matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) family, collagenase participates in the intricate balance of cell division, matrix synthesis, and matrix degradation to maintain the integrity of surrounding tissues in a similar

69

manner to HA'ase. Regulation of collagenase activity is imparted by MMP-specific inhibitors, collectively called tissue-inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPS) (Docherty et al., 1992). Hence, HA'ase inhibitors also may be present, particularly in saliva or gingival tissues. Furthermore, collagenase contains a hemopexin-like domain which functions in the specific binding of matrix substrate and is not believed to be required for catalysis (Hunt et al., 1987; Murphy et al., 1992; Clark and Cawston, 1989). Two similar hemopexin-like domains have been recently identified in pig liver HA'ase (Stern, unpublished data). One of these domains contains two HA-binding regions resembling RHAMM (Turley, 1992) and the highly specific peptide sequence of eight basic amino acids out of twelve (Hope et al., 1993). This evidence supports the notion that HA'ase also functions as a HABP (Tapper et al., 1993).

HA'ase activity in human gingiva has been identified although findings have differed as to the origin of the enzyme. D'Allaird and colleagues (1969) reported the presence of bacterial HA'ase activity in periodontal tissues whereas Goggins and coworkers (1968a) provided evidence for an enzyme of lysosomal origin. Additionally, gingival crevicular fluid contained bacterial HA'ase activity and has been associated with increased gingival inflammation (Schultz-Haudt et al., 1954; van Palenstein-Helderman and Hoogeveen, 1976; Last and

70

--

Embery, 1987).

IV. Hyaluronidase Activity in Human Saliva

Until recently, rapid, convenient, and sensitive assays for the detection of HA'ase were lacking although many have been described (Dorfman, 1948; Dorfman and Ott, 1948; Reissig et al., 1955; Benchetrit et al., 1977; Richman and Baer, 1980; Delpech et al., 1987; Nakamura et al., 1990). Utilizing a novel ELISA-like assay for HA'ase with increased sensitivity (Stern and Stern, 1992), unique HA'ase activity profiles for whole saliva and parotid saliva are described in the present study. However, enzymatic activity is not detected in all individuals and hence, preliminary evidence suggesting the presence of endogenous HA'ase inhibitors is reported. Besides the advantages described above, this ELISA-like assay permits the analysis of multiple samples, detection of HA'ase activity in small sample volumes (particularly important for the limited quantity of pure parotid saliva), and determination of HA'ase inhibitors with only minor assay modifications.

Quantitation of protein in saliva samples using the BioRad Protein Microassay permitted determination of the relative HA'ase activity in NFU/gm protein. The mean salivary protein concentrations were slightly lower than those reported elsewhere (Mason and Chisholm, 1975). It has been recognized that Coomassie Brilliant Blue reacts poorly with proline-rich

71

proteins which are abundant in saliva (Nakamura and Slots, 1983). Therefore, the salivary protein content may be somewhat underestimated. However, the protein values obtained appear useful for the purpose of this investigation.

Limited studies on salivary HA'ases have been conducted to date. The presence of bacterial HA'ase in human whole saliva has been reported in the literature (Mahler and Lisanti, 1952; Rolvstead et al., 1958; Hopps and Prout, 1972). However, this observation was anticipated since salivary enzymes originate from a variety of sources including oral microorganisms and the gingival crevicular fluid (Chauncey, 1961). This investigation reveals the presence of both acid-active (pH optimum = 4.0) and neutral-active (pH optimum = 6.8) HA'ase activities in human whole saliva indicating enzymes of tissue and bacterial origin, respectively. The detection of an acidactive enzyme coincides with the HA'ase reported by Hopps and Prout (1972) in which the optimum activity ranged from pH 3.5 - pH 3.9; however, a discrepancy in the pH optimum for the neutral-active HA'ase is evident. These investigators demonstrated optimum bacterial activity to be between pH 4.7 pH 5.3 despite not evaluating saliva samples above pH 6.0. Other pH optimum values for bacterial HA'ases quoted in the literature have varied between pH 5.5 and pH 6.1 (Rogers, 1961). Moreover, bacterial plaque HA'ase exhibits pH optima ranging from pH 5.0 and pH 6.6 (Soder and Nord, 1969; Nord et

72

シシン

al., 1970). Therefore, given the diversity of oral microorganisms in saliva as well as variations in assay techniques and buffers used (Rogers, 1961), the neutral-active HA'ase shown in the present study is considered to be of bacterial origin.

Tissue (lysosomal) HA'ases are characterized by a low pH optimum (Yamada et al., 1977; Hopps and Prout, 1972). In addition to a narrow acidic pH range of activity, Orkin and Toole (1980) have described typical non-bacterial, nontesticular lysosomal HA'ases to possess an endoglycosidic mode of action and distinct substrate preference for HA. In the present study, the acidic peaks of HA'ase activity observed in parotid saliva (pH optimum = 3.7) and whole saliva (pH optimum = 4.0) conform with values of other mammalian and nonmammalian tissue HA'ases (excluding testis). Since whole saliva demonstrates an enhanced acidic HA'ase level and a more broad pH range of activity, it is reasonable to speculate that additional enzyme sources such as the gingival crevicular fluid and other major and minor salivary glands contribute to Preliminary analysis this activity. of pure submandibular/sublingual salivary gland secretions also indicates the presence of an acidic HA'ase enzyme; however, additional research is necessary to determine the HA and HA'ase contributions of the other major and minor salivary glands.

Previously, detection of HA'ase activity in cannulated parotid saliva failed (Mahler and Lisanti, 1952) perhaps as a result of the decreased sensitivity of the viscosimetric assay. The ELISA-like assay for HA'ase employed in this study is advantageous over the more commonly utilized Reissig assay (1955) because of its simplicity and increased sensitivity 1992). Moreover, action (Stern and Stern, by the **B-glucuronidase** exoqlycosidic may obscure actual endoglycosidic HA'ase activity using the Reissig assay since both enzymes generate new reducing N-acetylglucosamine termini which are measured by this technique. Thus, higher, inaccurate activity values may be obtained. In this study exercised precaution exclude non-specific was to exoglycosidase activity by the addition of saccharo-1, 4lactone monohydrate to reaction buffers (Levvy and Marsh, 1959; Levvy and Conchie, 1966). However, further investigation is necessary to confirm an endoglycosidic mode of action which may be possible by cellulose acetate electrophoresis and paper chromatography to determine Nacetylhexosamine-containing oligosaccharide cleavage products (Bertolami and Ellis, 1985).

Some lysosomal HA'ases are believed to also catabolize different GAGs such as chondroitin-4-sulfate and chondroitin-6-sulfate (Fenger, 1982) whereas other enzymes demonstrate activity specifically against HA (Bertolami and Ellis, 1985).

74

The substrate specificity of the observed acidic salivary HA'ase is yet to be determined although it may be possible with the addition of competing GAG substrates to the reaction mixture.

In general, salivary enzymes originate from several sources including oral microorganisms, gingival crevicular fluid, epithelial salivary glands, cells, polymorphonuclear leukocytes, and dietary constituents (Chauncey, 1961). Despite several possibilities, the origins of oral tissue HA'ases are not well characterized. Tissue HA'ases are postulated to originate from epithelium (Squier and Waterhouse, 1970), macrophages (Goggins et al., 1968b), and polymorphonuclear leukocytes (Tynelius-Bratthall and Attstrom, 1972; Last and Embery, 1987). Hence, Hopps and Prout (1972) suggested that the tissue HA'ase observed in whole saliva arose from sloughed epithelial cells, gingival crevicular leukocytes, or from oral mucosal leukocytes which had migrated into saliva.

The origin of the tissue HA'ase detected in parotid saliva is less certain. Similar to the ECM elsewhere, the connective tissue of salivary glands consists of fibroblasts, macrophages, mast cells, plasma cells, and adipose cells embedded in a mixture of collagen, GAGs, and PGs (Ten Cate, 1985). Tan and Bowness (1968) identified a HA'ase from canine

75

The second second

Ł_

A ANA

submandibular gland homogenate and provided evidence for an enzyme of lysosomal origin by pH optimum, product formation, substrate specificity, and substrate inhibition. Present in sedimentable and soluble supernatant fractions, this acidactive enzyme resembled lysosomal HA'ase from rat liver. Therefore, the presence of a parotid salivary gland HA'ase for endogenous HA turnover and catabolism is possible although its release into salivary secretions remains in question. Since the HA'ase present in parotid saliva strongly displays characteristics of a non-bacterial, non-testicular tissue enzyme, this implies a lysosomal or other acidic site of action (Bertolami and Ellis, 1985). In addition, the lack of parotid saliva HA'ase activity in a higher pH range provides further evidence that this enzyme most likely is not active in the more neutral salivary secretion. More specifically, the pH values of whole saliva and parotid saliva are pH 7.08 and pH 5.92, respectively (Mason and Chisholm, 1975) which are not amenable environments for the acid-active salivary enzyme.

V. Characterization of Hyaluronidase Activity in Human Saliva Characterization of the optimal salivary HA'ase activity in whole saliva and parotid saliva required several modifications of the assay conditions as described by Stern and Stern (1992). Typically, enzymatic buffers for detection of HA'ase activity contain salt near physiological concentrations. For example, both tissue and bacterial HA'ase activities of

76

нь. 19⁴

various oral components have been reported at 0.15 M NaCl by several investigators (Goggins et al., 1968a; Hopps and Prout, 1972; Bertolami and Ellis, 1985, 1986; Last and Embery, 1987). In the present study, the parotid salivary HA'ase required high salt concentrations (0.5 M NaCl) for enzymatic activity suggesting elevated ionic conditions were necessary to dissociate putative enzyme-inhibitor complexes. This distinct requisite also was characteristic of the HA'ase activity recently identified in cultured human dermal fibroblasts (Stair, 1993). In contrast, whole saliva displayed increased acidic HA'ase activity at low salt concentrations although some activity was detected also at higher ionic strengths. Presumably, the other acidic HA'ase enzymes in whole saliva, active at lower salt concentrations, originate from previously identified tissue HA'ase sources (Hopps and Prout, 1972). However, since the normal salivary environment is not likely to be at elevated salt concentrations, it is assumed that the tissue HA'ase in parotid saliva is inactive until dissociated from the inhibitor complex by a yet undefined mechanism. The neutral enzyme showed little influence of ionic strength which corroborates the known enzyme activity of bacterial origin in whole saliva.

The interaction of albumin and HA has been well documented (Johnston, 1955; Gramling et al., 1963; Davies et al., 1963; Niedemayer et al., 1966; Gold, 1980) and thus, has been

77

1:

λ.

classified as a HABP, or hyaladherin (Toole, 1990). The structural and cell surface-associated hyaladherins are known to contain homologous domains identified as HA receptors which contribute to the physiochemical capacities of HA and its role in regulation of cell behavior (Toole, 1990). Although the role of albumin in HA metabolism is not understood, previous studies in this laboratory and others (Afify et al., 1993; Stern and Stern ,1992; Stair, 1993) have included routinely BSA in enzyme reaction cocktails. Furthermore, loss of the HA and BSA complex formation is the basis for an early turbidimetric assay for HA'ase activity at acidic pH (Dorfman and Ott, 1948).

The enhanced acidic HA'ase activity observed in whole saliva and parotid saliva in the presence of 0.02% BSA suggests the requirement of albumin to function as a carrier protein for association of HA as a suitable substrate for the tissue HA'ase reaction. Gold (1980) has described the formation of albumin-HA complexes that caused conformational changes in the albumin molecules. He postulates that the conformation of HA is altered when associated with albumin. Therefore, it is hypothesized that this is necessary for substrate binding to the tissue HA'ase enzyme in saliva. In addition, the presence of increased ionic strength (greater than 0.02 M NaCl) has been shown to disrupt the albumin-HA complex (Gold, 1980) which may explain the need for exogenous BSA for the acid-

78

Ë.

746 |4⁴

2

3

Ì

- .

. ·

active HA'ase to function under the elevated salt assay conditions. Parotid saliva normally contains relatively low albumin concentrations (stimulated saliva [albumin] = <1 - 8mg/L) (Mason and Chisholm, 1975). In comparison, the data suggest bacterial HA'ases obviate the need for exogenous albumin to provide conformational alterations of substrate for enzymatic activity to proceed. This phenomenon may serve as a further measure for distinguishing bacterial and tissue HA'ases in saliva.

Determination of salivary HA'ase activity under the optimally defined conditions mandated dilution of samples in the appropriate enzyme buffer cocktail. The highly sensitive ELISA-like assay was effective in demonstrating the dosedependent activity of salivary HA'ase. Utilizing a 10-fold sample dilution, HA'ase activity in parotid saliva, presumably of tissue origin, was identified for the first time. This low level of HA'ase activity may be explained by the presence of endogenous HA and HA'ase inhibitors which were demonstrated also in both parotid saliva and whole saliva. An attempt to enhance salivary HA'ase activity by lyophilization and 10-fold concentration of sample yielded less than a 2-fold increase in activity. In the same manner as concentrating the enzyme of interest, endogenous HA and HA'ase inhibitors inadvertently may have been concentrated also and thus, may have obscured the anticipated increase in HA'ase activity.

79

3

C. Martine and

<u>l</u>.

•

11

1 -

- . :

•

Obstacles in accurate determination of baseline salivary HA'ase activity levels incurred during were this Initial evaluation of salivary HA'ase investigation. stability indicated the enzyme was capable of maintaining HA'ase activity following harsh sequential freeze-thaw cycles. Furthermore, addition of protease inhibitors appeared to slightly decrease activity rather than preserve it and hence, was omitted from the reaction mixtures. As the investigation progressed, however, the HA'ase activity appeared to decrease over time although most saliva samples were stored at - 20°C, thawed, and assayed only once. Unfortunately, it was difficult to make a direct comparison of activity levels of saliva samples since the majority of the study involved manipulating assay conditions to characterize the enzymes. Several investigators have noted a characteristic lability of other HA'ases during manipulative procedures (Rautela and Abramson, 1973; Gold, 1982; Fenger, 1982; Bertolami and Ellis, Therefore, further investigation is necessary to 1985). confirm a loss of activity in salivary HA'ase within an extended period under standardized conditions. To avoid this uncertainty, however, saliva samples should be collected and assayed immediately.

Definitive measurements of salivary HA'ase activity were further complicated by the presence of endogenous HA in saliva samples because it could serve as a competitive substrate in

80

1

ί.

the reaction mixture. Therefore, actual HA'ase activity levels may have been higher than recorded. To circumvent this problem, endogenous HA in salivary samples can be removed by FPLC chromatography using a Mono-Q column (Pharmacia) which effectively separates molecules based on charge. Furthermore, an additional benefit of this chromatographic procedure is that it would permit partial purification of the HA'ase enzymes from the complex salivary milieu.

Another limitation of the ELISA-like assay for HA'ase activity is that it is a solid phase assay. Thus, although a fixed amount of exogenous HA is used to coat the wells, precise quantification of HA adsorption to the microtiter plate is not possible and as a result, enzyme kinetics cannot be determined. Such kinetics utilize precise substrate concentrations. The Reissig assay (1955) is advantageous in this respect; however, this assay is 10,000-fold less sensitive than the ELISA-like assay used in this study and may not be sufficient to detect the relatively low levels of salivary HA'ase activity.

VI. Hyaluronidase Inhibitors in Human Saliva

Despite their obvious biological significance, HA'ase inhibitors have not been well characterized to date. HA'ase inhibitors have been identified in serum (Mathews and Dorfman, 1955) and have been implicated to play a role in tumor

81

he - - - - - -

.

2

1

) 2

progression by slowing tumor spread (Fiszer-Szafarz, 1968). One of the advantages of this ELISA-like assay is its capacity to be modified for assay of HA'ase inhibitors. Preliminary evidence suggests the presence of HA'ase inhibitors in both whole saliva and parotid saliva samples in which HA'ase activity was observed, as well as in samples in which it was lacking. Similar observations of potent HA'ase inhibitors have been shown in human serum (Afify et al., 1993) and in the media of cultured human dermal fibroblasts (Stair, 1993) utilizing this assay technique. It may be postulated that in the absence of injury HA'ase inhibitors are normally present in saliva in order to limit substrate degradation and to permit HA to confer its protective role in saliva.

Further characterization of the salivary HA'ases and their inhibitors is essential for understanding the intricate mechanisms of HA metabolism. This may be possible utilizing the recently developed substrate-gel assay for HA'ase activity (Guntenhoner et al., 1992). In brief, the HA'ase enzyme can be separated from its inhibitors via electrophoresis utilizing a polyacrylamide gel containing the HA substrate. Following enzymatic degradation of HA embedded in the gel and differential staining techniques, pertinent information is gained including the molecular weight determination of the isolated HA'ase and other major proteins, particularly HA'ase inhibitors. However, because of the complexity of salivary Ŀ.

]

3

53

1

secretions, including the abundance of proline-rich proteins in ductal saliva (Bennick, 1987), specific detection procedures are necessary for resolving the numerous major salivary protein constituents (Beeley et al., 1991). In addition, utilizing a spectrophotometer for gel scanning, the substrate-gel assay can be an effective quantitative tool for determination of HA'ase activity (Guntenhoner et al., 1992).

VII. Possible Roles of Hyaluronidase in Human Saliva

Mammalian buccal mucosal HA'ases from normal (uninjured) and granulation wound tissue have been identified by Bertolami and colleagues (1985, 1986). Interestingly, these enzymes demonstrated characteristics typical of lysosomal HA'ases including a mechanism of endoglycosidic cleavage and distinct substrate preference for HA; however, each enzyme exhibited a unique pH profile. Normal buccal mucosa HA'ase was found to be optimally active at pH 3.5 while mucosal wound HA'ase displayed peak activity at pH 4.5. The slightly elevated pH observed in buccal mucosal wounds coincided with observations made in skin wound granulation tissue (Ruggiero et al., 1987). As a result, it was concluded that different HA'ases exist to function in normal HA metabolism of uninjured tissues and under conditions requiring rapid tissue proliferation and regeneration. In fact, the term "hyaluronidase" refers to a large family of enzymes whose members can occur also in multiple isoenzyme forms (IUPAC-IUB Commission Report, 1977).

83

i A

J.M.

Ŀ.,

]

1 ...

) - (

3

2

•• . :

ς.

•

·••• •

Therefore, HA'ases are grouped according to their mechanism of action. The most distinguishable characteristic among different HA'ases is their pH optimum for enzymatic activity (Hopps and Prout, 1972; Fiszer-Szarfarz, 1984). Enzymes exhibiting an acidic range of HA'ase activity such as lysosomal and serum HA'ase (pH optimum = 3.5) typically are involved in the regulation of baseline metabolism of endogenous GAGs (Fiszer-Szarfarz, 1984). In comparison, other HA'ases, active during developmental or reparative processes in which GAG turnover is elevated, demonstrate a broad range of activity near neutral optimum pH (Polansky et al. 1974; Bertolami and Donoff, 1982; Fiszer-Szarfarz, 1984), and may degrade their substrate to intermediate oligosaccharide oligomers rather than to the limit sugar.

Several formulated regarding hypotheses can be the contribution of saliva to GAG processing during intraoral The observation that intraoral wounds wound healing. clinically resemble scarless fetal wounds suggests similar mechanisms of healing by regeneration rather than by scarring and fibrosis (Peacock, 1984; Adzick and Longaker, 1991). Although distinct HA'ases have been identified in parotid saliva (pH optima = 3.7), whole saliva (pH optima = 4.0 and 6.8), and buccal mucosal wounds (pH optima = 4.5) (Bertolami and Ellis, 1986), these enzymes may be regulated by potent HA'ase inhibitors in saliva. Therefore, since intraoral

84

1

1

le a

1 .

·--- .

- ·

wounds are continually bathed in saliva, these inhibitors are readily available to promote a prolonged presence of HA. Additionally, elevated levels of HA'ase inhibitors in saliva may be induced in the event of a wound. As regenerative healing progresses, perhaps other regulatory factors appear to create a more permissive environment for endogenous HA'ase activity later in the healing stages and thus, cellular differentiation may be accelerated in a similar manner to extraoral wound healing. Clearly, more investigation is needed to delineate the presence of HA'ases and HA'ase inhibitors and their role in modulating wound healing.

The importance of precise regulation of HA metabolism during embryogenesis and tissue repair is evident. However, the details of these complex mechanisms have not been fully elucidated. Obviously, the major factors which regulate HA synthesis and its degradation must be delicately balanced in both a quantitative and temporal manner. In particular, the appearance of HA'ase during the transition from the morphogenetic phase to the cytodifferentiative phase may require careful modulation between the enzyme and its inhibitors which have yet to be well characterized.

85

-- .

.

1

Ľ.

- . • - .

÷.

:

-. ·

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS

Understanding the mechanisms of mammalian wound healing requires delineation of the intricacies of cellular growth, differentiation, and remodeling. As a major component of the ECM, HA is believed to play a central role during fetal tissue repair in which healing occurs without scar formation (Longaker and Adzick, 1991). The hypothesis that salivary constituents contribute to intraoral wound healing in a similar fashion to components implicated in scarless fetal wound repair is supported by the presence of key factors in saliva which are involved in HA metabolism. Most likely, regulation of HA metabolism is imparted partially by factors which are associated with its breakdown.

This investigation has established baseline levels of HA in whole saliva and parotid saliva of normal human adults at levels comparable to those observed in serum and urine. Analysis of whole saliva and parotid saliva for HA'ase activity revealed distinct conditions for optimal activity. An acid-active enzyme was detected in parotid saliva whereas whole saliva displayed both acid and neutral enzyme activities. Therefore, the different acid and neutral HA'ase activities observed in saliva may indicate enzymes of tissue and bacterial origin, respectively. Additional evidence was provided by immunorecognition of HA'ase in all saliva samples

86

;

Rimmerce

1

•• •

Υ.

٠٩.

although it was not possible to distinguish the enzyme origin by this technique. Furthermore, preliminary results suggested HA'ase inhibitors were responsible for the regulation of salivary HA'ase since enzyme activity was not detected in all individuals although HA'ase was confirmed to be present by immunological means.

Additional investigation is necessary to further characterize and isolate salivary HA'ases as well as their inhibitors. Western blot analysis and substrate gel electrophoresis for HA'ase activity may provide insight about the enzyme's molecular weight preliminary as a step toward its purification. A series of differential column chromatographic techniques based upon charge, binding specificity, and size would assist in enzyme purification. With the detection of salivary HA'ase activity in the normal (uninjured) state, much work remains to determine if HA synthesis and catabolism are modulated in saliva during the wounded condition. If this is the case, identification and elucidation of the roles of these HA and HA'ase modulators during wound healing are necessary. Moreover, analysis for HA stimulatig activity in mixed saliva and pure saliva under normal and injured conditions may reveal additional information to determine if intraoral wound healing mimics fetal repair processes in regards to HA processing.

The significance of unraveling the mechanisms of HA, HA'ase,

87

-

÷

A

Ŀ.

1

••••• :

and HA'ase inhibitors in normal salivary physiology and their possible role in modulating wound repair is indisputable. If modulation of salivary GAGs does indeed promote intraoral wound repair in a similar manner to that observed in the fetus, this knowledge will enhance efforts to prevent scar formation in general, which can create a debilitating cosmetic or functional problem.

-

4

1.

• •

- . :

5

-- ,

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abatangelo G, Martelli M, Vecchia P. Healing of hyaluronic acid-enriched wounds: histological observations. J Surg Res 35: 410-416, 1983.

Staphylococcal hyaluronate lyase: multiple Abramson C. electrophoretic and chromatographic forms. Arch Biochem Biophys 121: 103-106, 1967.

Adzick NS, Longaker MT. Scarless wound healing in the fetus: The role of the extracellular matrix. Progress in Clinical and Biological Research 365: 177-192, 1991.

Afify AM, Stern M, Guntenhoner M, Stern R. Purification and characterization of human serum hyaluronidase. Arch Biochem Biophys 305: 434-441, 1993.

Alexander SA, Donoff RB. Identification and localization of wound hyaluronidase. J Surg Res 27: 163-167, 1979.

Alexander SA, Donoff RB. The glycosaminoglycans of open wounds. J Surg Res 29: 422-429, 1980.

Ando K. Collagenase, dipeptidylpeptidase IV and cathepsin D activities in gingival fluid and whole saliva from patients with periodontal disease. Jap J Periodont 22: 387-402, 1980.

Arbogast R, Hopwood JJ, Dorfman A. Absence of hyaluronidase in cultured human skin fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 67: 376-382, 1975.

Balazs EA, Hogberg B, Laurent TC. The biological activity of hyaluron sulfuric acid. Act Physiol Scand 23: 168-178, 1951.

Balazs EA, Holmgren HJ. The basic dye-uptake and the presence of a growth-inhibiting substance in the healing tissue of skin wounds. Exp Cell Res 1: 206-216, 1950.

Balazs EA, Laurent TC, Jeanloz RW. Nomenclature of hyaluronic acid. Biochem J 235: 903, 1986.

Barnhart BJ, Cox SH, Kraemer PM. Detachment variants of chinese hamster cells: hyaluronic acid as a modulator of cell detachment. Exp Cell Res 119: 327-332, 1979.

Baum BJ. Evaluation of stimulated parotid saliva flow rate in different age groups. J Dent Res 60: 1292-1296, 1981.

Beeley JA, Sweeney D, Lindsay JCB, Buchanan ML, Sarna L, Khoo

·--- .

1

4

5

. .

. •

. - -

1 •

- .

1 7 .

1 - - -. . .

) (

- .

<u>.</u>

· . *

1

. ~

......

·--- ,

KS. Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide qel electrophoresis of human parotid salivary proteins. Electrophoresis 12: 1032-1041, 1991.

Benchetrit LC, Pahuja SL, Grey ED, Edstrom RD. A sensitive method for the assay of hyaluronidase activity. Anal Biochem 79: 431-437, 1977.

Bennick A. Structural and genetic aspects of proline-rich proteins. J Dent Res 66: 457-461, 1987.

Bernfield M, Banerjee SD, Koda JE, Rapraeger AC. Remodeling of the basement membrane as a mechanism of morphogenetic tissue interaction. In The Role of Extracellular Matrix in Development pp 545-572. Alan R. Liss, Inc., New York, 1984.

Bertolami CN, Donoff RB. Hyaluronidase activity during open wound healing in rabbits. J Surg Res 25: 256-259, 1978.

Bertolami CN, Donoff RB. Identification, characterization, partial purification of mammalian skin wound and hyaluronidase. J Invest Derm 79: 417-421, 1982.

Bertolami CN, Ellis DG. Identification and characterization of rabbit buccal mucosal hyaluronidase. J Dent Res 64: 913-918, 1985.

Bertolami CN, Ellis DG. Separation and properties of rabbit buccal mucosal wound hyaluronidase. J Dent Res 65: 939-944, 1986.

Bodner L. Effect of parotid, submandibular and sublingual saliva on wound healing in rats. Comp Biochem Physiol 100A: 887-890, 1991.

Bodner L, Dayan D. Effect of sialadenectomy on oral mucosa and skin wound healing in rats. J Head Neck Pathol 9: 229-231, 1990.

Bodner L, Dayan D, Rotchild D, Hammel I. Extraction wound healing in desalivated rats. J Oral Pathol Med 20: 176-178, 1991.

Bollet AJ, Bonner WM, Nance JL. The presence of hyaluronidase in various mammalian tissues. J Biol Chem 238: 3522-3527, 1963.

Boudreau N, Rabinovitch M. Developmentally regulated changes in extracellular matrix in endothelial and smooth muscle cells in the ductus arteriosus may be related to intimal proliferation. Lab Invest 64: 187-199, 1991.

. 1

. Į.

n, i

1.

÷.,

11

2

. . .

. , i

: .

 $\mathbf{I}_{\mathcal{F}_{1}}$

•••• - -

• .

1 -

)

1.

·· ,

:

•

:

;

۰., • • ٨.

) .

. -

.

Brecht M, Mayer U, Schlosser E, Prehm P. Increased hyaluronate synthesis is required for fibroblast detachment and mitosis. *Biochem J* 239: 445-450, 1986.

Brown GL, Nanney LB, Griffen J, Cramer AB, Yancey JM, Curtsinger LJ, Holtzin L, Schultz GS, Jurkiewicz MJ, Lynch JB. Enhancement of wound healing by topical treatment with epidermal growth factor. New Eng J Med 321: 76-79, 1989.

Brown TJ, Laurent UBG, Fraser JRE. Turnover of hyaluronan in synovial joints: elimination of labelled hyaluronan from the knee joint of the rabbit. *Exp Physiol* 76: 125-134, 1991.

Budds M, Edwards J, Olavesen AH, Gacesa P. A comparison of the properties of the hyaluronidases from a temperate and a tropical species of leech. *Comp Biochem Physiol* 87B: 497-500, 1987.

Casadel A, Bassetto F, Azzena B, Brun P, De Galateo A, Abatangelo G. Effect of some chemical substances on wound healing. In *Cutaneous Development, Aging, and Repair,* Abatangelo G, Davidson JM eds. pp 189-196, Liviana Press, Padova, Italy, 1989.

Chain E, Duthrie ES. Identity of hyaluronidase and spreading factor. Br J Exp Path 21: 324-338, 1940.

Chauncey HH. Salivary enzymes JADA 63: 360-368, 1961.

Clark IM, Cawston TE. Fragments of human fibroblast collagenase. Purification and characterization. Biochem J 263: 201-206, 1989.

Comper WD, Laurent TC. Physiological function of connective tissue polysaccharides. *Physiol Rev* 58: 255-315, 1978.

Courant PR, Paunio I, Gibbons RJ. Infectivity and hyaluronidase activity of debrie from healthy and diseased gingiva. Arch Oral Biol 10: 119-125, 1965.

Cowman RA, Baron SS, Fitzgerald RJ, Stuchell RE, Mandel ID. Comparative growth responses of oral streptococci on mixed saliva or the separate submandibular and parotid secretions from caries-active and caries-free individuals. *J Dent Res* 62: 946-951, 1983.

D'Allaird FJ, Ciancio SG, Hausmann E. Hyaluronidase activity of the gingival environment. J Periodontol 40: 17-19, 1969.

Davies M, Nichol LW, Ogston AG. Frictional effects in the migration of mixtures of hyaluronic acid and serum albumin. Biochem Biophys Acta 75: 436-438, 1963.

. • •

2

-, ·

÷.

1

1.

i.

. .

1.

- '

1

÷.

. .

•

- .

-- ·

1

· · ·

- .

Dawes C. The effects of flow rate and duration of stimulation on the concentration o f protein and the main electrolytes in human parotid saliva. Arch Oral Biol 14: 277-294, 1969.

Decker M, Chiu ES, Dollbaum C, Moiin A, Hall J Spendlove R, Longaker MT, Stern R. Hyaluronic acid-stimulating activity in sera from the bovine fetus and from breast cancer patients. *Cancer Res* 49: 3499-3505, 1989.

Delpech B, Bertrand P, Chauzy C. An indirect enzymoimmunological assay for hyaluronidase. J Immunol Methods 104: 223-229, 1987.

DePalma RL, Krummel TM, Durham LA, Michna BA, Thomas BL, Nelson JM, Diegelmann RF. Characterization and quantitation of wound matrix in the fetal rabbit. *Matrix* 9: 224-231, 1989.

Derby MA, Pintar JE. The histochemical specificity of Streptomyces hyaluronidase and chondroitinase ABC. Histochem J 10: 529-547, 1978.

Dewar MR. Bacterial enzymes and periodontal disease. J Dent Res 37: 100-106, 1958.

Docherty AJP, O'Connell J, Crabbe T, Angal S, Murphy G. The matrix metalloproteinases and their natural inhibitors: prospects for treating degenerative tissue diseases. *TIBTECH* 10: 200-207, 1992.

Dorfman A. The kinetics of the enzymatic hydrolysis of hyaluronic acid. J Biol Chem 172: 377-387, 1948.

Dorfman A, Ott ML. A turbidimetric method of assay of hyaluronidase. J Biol Chem 172: 367-375, 1948.

Duran-Reynals F. Exaltation de l'activite des virue vaccinal par les entraits de certains organes. *CR Soc Biol* 99: 6-12, 1928.

Engstrom-Laurent A. Changes in hyaluronan concentration in tissues and body fluids in disease states. In *The Biology of Hyaluronan*. Ciba Foundation Symposium 143, pp 233-247. Wiley, Chichester, England, 1989.

Engstrom-Laurent A, Laurent TC. Hyaluronan as a clinical marker. In *Clinical Impact of Bone and Connective Tissue Markers*, Lindh E, Thorell JI eds., pp 235-252. Academic, London, England, 1989.

Fenger M. Purification of human serum hyaluronidase using chromatofocusing. J Chromatog 240: 173-179, 1982.

i

15

.

1

1.

- · .

7

: .

۰.

۰.

. •

.

ند سر



Fessler JH, Fessler LI. Electron microscopic visualization of the polysaccharide hyaluronic acid. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 56: 141-147, 1966.

Fiszer-Szafarz B. Demonstration of a new hyaluronidase inhibitor in serum of cancer patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 81: 1733-1737, 1968.

Fiszer-Szafarz B. Hyaluronidase polymorphism detected by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Application to hyaluronidases from bacteria, slime molds, bee and snake venoms, bovine testis, rat liver lysosomes, and human serum. Anal Biochem 143: 76-81, 1984.

Fiszer-Szafarz B, Nadal D. Lysosomal enzyme activities in the regenerating rat liver. *Cancer Res* 34: 354-357, 1977.

Fitzgerald TJ, Repesh LA. The hyaluronidase associated with Treponema pallidum facilitates treponemal dissemination. Infect Immun 55: 1023-1028, 1987.

Forrester JV, Balazs EA. Inhibition of phagocytosis by high molecular weight hyaluronate. *Immunology* 40: 435-446, 1980.

Forsberg N, Gustafson S. Characterization and purification of the hyaluronan-receptor on liver endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Acta* 1078: 12-18, 1991.

Fosang AJ, Hey NJ, Carney SL, Hardingham TE. An ELISA plate based assay for hyaluronan using biotinylated proteoglycan G1 domain (HA-binding region). *Matrix* 10: 306-313, 1990.

Fox PC, van der Ven PF, Sonies BC, Weiffenbach JM, Baum BJ. Xerostomia: evaluation of a symptom with increasing significance. JADA 110: 519-525, 1985.

Fraser JRE, Kimpton WG, Laurent TC, Cahill RNP, Vakakis N. Uptake and degradation of hyaluronan in lymphatic tissue. Biochem J 256: 153-158, 1988.

Fraser JRE, Laurent TC. Turnover and metabolism of hyaluronan. In The Biology of Hyaluronan. Ciba Foundation Symposium 143, pp 233-247. Wiley, Chichester, England, 1989.

Gakunga, P. Unpublished data. University of California, San Francisco, Department of Pathology, San Francisco, CA 94143, 1992.

Gibbs DA, Merrill EW, Smith KA, Balazs EA. Rheology of hyaluronic acid *Biopolymers* 6: 777-791, 1968.

Goggins JF, Fullmer HM, Steffek AJ. Hyaluronidase activity in

.

•

ť

7.

1.

. . . .

-

1.

-

1.

....

17.

• •

-- <u>-</u> -

ž., .

11

۰.

. 1

! . .,

.....

-

Ĵ)

 $(\mathbf{0})$

0,7

human gingiva. Arch Path 85: 272-274, 1968a.

Goggins JF, Lazarus GS, Fullmer HM. Hyaluronidase activity of alveolar macrophages. J Histochem Cytochem 16: 688-692, 1968b.

Gold EW. An interaction of albumin with hyaluronic acid and chondroitin sulfate: A study of affinity chromatography and circular dichroism. *Biopolymers* 19: 1407-1414, 1980.

Gold EW. Purification and properties of hyaluronidase from human liver. Biochem J 205: 69-74, 1982.

Goldberg RL. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for hyaluronate using cartilage proteoglycan and an antibody to keratin sulfate. Analytical Biochem 74: 448-458, 1988.

Gomori G. Preparation of buffers for use in enzyme studies. In Methods in Enzymology, Volume I, Colowick SP, Kaplan NO eds, pp 138-146. New York, Academic Press, 1955.

Gramling E, Niedermeier W, Holley HL, Pigman W. Some factors affecting the interaction of hyaluronic acid with bovineplasma albumin. *Biochem Biophys Acta* 69: 552-558, 1963.

Greiling H, Stuhlsatz HW, Eberhard T, Eberhard A. Studies on the mechanism of hyaluronate lyase action. *Connect Tissue Res* 3: 135-139, 1975.

Guntenhoner M, Pogrel MA, Stern R. A substrate-gel assay for hyaluronidase activity. *Matrix* 12: 388-396, 1992.

Hakanson L, Hallgren R, Venge P. Regulation of granulocyte formation by hyaluronic acid. *J Clin Invest* 66: 298-305, 1980.

Hardingham TE, Muir H. Binding of oligosaccharide of hyaluronic acid to proteoglycan. *Biochem J* 135: 905-908, 1973.

Hart BC, Powell KL. Antibacterial properties of saliva: Role in maternal periparturient grooming and in licking wounds. *Physiol Behav* 48: 383-386, 1990.

Heft MW, Baum BJ. Unstimulated and stimulated parotid salivary flow rate in individuals of different ages. J Dent Res 63: 1182-1185, 1984.

Heinegard D, Oldberg A. Structure and biology of cartilage and bone matrix noncollagenous macromolecules. *FASEB J.* 3: 2042-2051, 1989. ، ب د

<u>)</u>

 O_{i}

1

٦

Hellstrom S, Laurent C. Hyaluronan and healing of tympanic membrane perforations. An experimental study. Acta Otolaryngol (Stockh) Suppl 442: 54-61, 1987.

Herrera JL, Lyons MF, Johnson LF. Saliva: It's role in health and disease. J Clin Gastroenterol 10: 569-578, 1988.

Hook M. Cell-surface glycosaminoglycans. Ann Rev Biochem 53: 847-869, 1984.

Hope TJ, Zhu L, Parslow TG, Yang B, Stern M, Turley EA, Stern R. Partial sequence of porcine liver hyaluronidase: identification of a hemopexin and two putative HA-binding domains. Abstract: American Society of Cell Biology, Denver Colorado, November, 1993.

Hopps RM, Prout RES. Identification of tissue and bacterial hyaluronidase in human saliva. *J Periodont Res* 7: 236-241, 1972.

Hunt LT, Barker WC, Chen HR. A domain structure common to hemopexin, vitronectin, interstitial collagenase, and a collagenase homologue. Protein Seq Data Anal 1: 21-26, 1987.

Hutson JM, Niahl M, Evans D, Fowles R. Effects of salivary glands on wound contraction in mice. *Nature* 179: 793-795, 1979.

Hynes RO. Integrins: a family of cell surface receptors. Cell 48: 549-554, 1987.

Hynes WL, Ferretti JJ. Sequence analysis and expression in Escherichia coli of the hyaluronidase gene of Streptococcus pyogenes bacteriophage H4489A. Infect Immun 57: 533-539, 1989.

IUPAC-IUB Commission on Biochemical Nomenclature. Nomenclature of multiple forms of enzymes: Recommendations. 1976. J Biol Chem 252: 5939-5941, 1977.

Jackson RL, Busch SJ, Cardin AD. Glycosaminoglycans: molecular properties, protein interactions, and role in physiological processes. *Physiol Rev* 71: 481-539, 1991.

Johnston JP. The sedimentation behavior of mixtures of hyaluronic acid and albumin in the ultracentrifuge. Biochem J 59: 620-627, 1955.

King SR, Hickerson WL, Proctor KG. Beneficial actions of exogenous hyaluronic acid on wound healing. *Surgery* 109: 76-84, 1991.

T
ر ، د ل ١ 4 . \ Q) ľ

Kjellman O, Linder L, Frostell G. Effect in vitro of pH and low glucose concentrations on the growth and hyaluronidase activity of a strain of Streptococcus mitis. *Odont Revy* 22: 27-36, 1971.

Knudson W, Biswas C, Li XQ, Nemec RE, Toole BP. The role and regulation of tumour associated hyaluronan. In *The Biology of Hyaluronan*, Ciba Foundation Symposium 143, pp 150-169. Wiley, Chichester, England, 1989.

Kujawa MJ, Pechak DG, Fiszmann MY, Caplan AI. Hyaluronic acid bonded to cell culture surface inhibits the program of myogenesis. *Dev Biol* 113: 10-16, 1986.

Kujawa MJ, Tepperman K. Culturing chick muscle cells on glycosaminoglycan substrates: attachment and differentiation. *Dev Biol* 99: 277-286, 1983.

Kulyk WM, Kosher RA. Temporal and spatial analysis of hyaluronidase activity during development of the embryonic chick limb bud. *Dev Biol* 120: 535-541, 1987.

Last KS, Embery G. Hyaluronic acid and hyaluronidase activity in gingival exudate from sites of acute ulcerative gingivitis in man. Archs Oral Biol 32: 811-815, 1987.

Laurent TC. Structure of hyaluronic acid. In Chemistry and Molecular Biology of the Intercellular Matrix Balazs EA ed. pp 703-732. Academic, London, 1970.

Laurent TC, Fraser JRE. The properties and turnover of hyaluronan. In *Functions of Proteoglycans*, Ciba Foundation Symposium 124, pp 9-29. Wiley, Chichester, England, 1986.

Laurent TC, Fraser JRE. Catabolism of hyaluronan. In Degradation of Bioactive Substances: Physiology and Pathophysiology, Henriksen JH ed. pp 249-265, CRC press, Boca Raton Florida, 1991.

Laurent TC, Fraser JRE. Hyaluronan. FASEB J 6: 2397-2404, 1992.

Laurent UBG, Laurent TC. On the origin of hyaluronate in blood. Biochem Int 2: 195-199, 1981.

Laurent UBG, Fraser JRE, Laurent TC. An experimental technique to study the turnover of concentrated hyaluronan in the anterior chamber of the rabbit. *Exp Eye Res* 46: 49-58, 1988.

Laurent UBG, Reed RK. Turnover of hyaluronan in the tissues. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 7: 237-256, 1991. ·.,

- .

F

2

.

.

.

r

•

Γ

ā.

Levvy GA, Conchie J. Mammalian glycosidases and their inhibition by aldonolactones. *Method Enzymol* 8: 571-584, 1966.

Levvy GA, Marsh A. Preparation and properties of betaglucaronidase. Advan Carbohyd Chem 14: 381-428, 1959.

Li AKC, Koroly MJ, Shattenkerk ME, Malt RA, Young M. Nerve growth factor: acceleration of rate of wound healing in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 77: 4379-4381, 1980.

Longaker MT, Adzick NS. The biology of fetal wound healing: A review. Plast Reconstr Surg 87: 788-798, 1991.

Longaker MT, Chiu ES, Adzick NS, Stern M, Harrison MR, Stern R. Studies in fetal wound healing. A prolonged presence of hyaluronic acid characterizes fetal wound fluid. Ann Surg 213: 292-296, 1991.

Mahler IR, Lisanti VF. Hyaluronidase-producing microorganisms from human saliva. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 5: 1235-1240, 1952.

Mandel ID. The function of saliva. J Dent Res 66(Special Issue): 623-627, 1987.

Mandel ID. The role of saliva in maintaining oral homeostasis. *JADA* 119: 298-304, 1989.

Markwald RR, Fitzharris TP, Bank H, Bernanke DH. Structural analyses on the matrical organization of glycosaminoglycan in developing endocardial cushions. *Dev Biol* 62: 292-316, 1978.

Mason DK, Chisolm DM. Saliva. In Salivary Glands in Health and Disease, pp 42-50. Philadelphia, WB Saunders, 1975.

Mathews M, Dorfman A. Inhibition of hyaluronidase. *Physiol* Rev 35: 381-402, 1955.

McGurk M, Hanford L, Justice S, Metcalfe RA. The secretory characteristics of epidermal growth factor in human saliva. Arch Oral Biol 35: 653-659, 1990.

Meyer K. Chemical structure of hyaluronic acid. Fed Proc 17: 1075, 1958.

Meyer K, Palmer JW. The polysaccharide of the vitreous humor. J Biol Chem 107: 629-634, 1934.

Meyer K, Rapport MM. Hyaluronidases. Adv Enzymol 13: 199-236, 1952.

t

L

;

Miller D, Stegmann R eds. Healon (sodium hyaluronate). A guide to its use in ophthalmic surgery. Wiley, New York, 1983.

Murphy G, Allan JA, Willenbrock F, Cockett MI, O'Connell JP, Docherty AJP. The role of the C-terminal domain in collagenase and stromelysin specificity. J Biol Chem. 267: 9612-9618, 1992.

Nakamura M, Slots J. Salivary enzymes: Origin and relationship to periodontal disease. *J Periodont Res* 18: 559-569, 1983.

Nakamura T, Majima M, Kubo K, Takagahi K, Tamura S, Endo M. Hyaluronidase assay using fluorogenic hyaluronate as substrate. Anal Biochem 191: 21-24, 1990.

Niall M, Ryan GB, O'Brian BM. The effect of epidermal growth factor on wound healing in mice. *J Surg Res* 33: 164-169, 1982.

Niedermeier W, Gramling E, Pigman W. Interaction of hyaluronic acid and bovine plasma albumin. *Biochem Biophys* Acta 130: 143-149, 1966.

Nord CE, Soder PO, Lindquist L, Frostell G. Identification and purification of hyaluronidases from cultured dental plaque material. *Odont Revy* 21: 13-27, 1970.

Ogston AG, Stanier JE. The physiological function of hyaluronic acid in synovial fluid: viscous, elastic, and lubricant properties. *J Physiol* 119: 244-252, 1953.

Orkin RW, Toole BP. Chick embryo fibroblasts produce two forms of hyaluronidase. *J Cell Biol* 85: 248-257, 1980.

Peacock EE. Healing and repair of viscera. In Wound Repair, pp 438-484. Philadelphia, WB Saunders, 1984.

Pogrel MA, George RP, Kao RT. Hyaluronidase as a biochemical marker for wound healing. *J Dent Res* 68: 380, Abs 1592, 1989.

Polansky JR, Toole BP, Gross J. Brain hyaluronidase: Changes in activity during chick development. *Science* 183: 862-864, 1974.

Prehm P. Identification and regulation of the eucaryotic hyaluronate synthase. In *The Biology of Hyaluronan*. Ciba Foundation Symposium 143, pp 21-40. Wiley, Chichester, England, 1989.

Pukrittayakamee S, Warrell DA, Desakorn V, McMichael AJ, White NJ, Bunnag D. The hyaluronidase activities of some Southeast

0.7

j)

Asian snake venoms. Toxicon 26: 629-637, 1988.

Rautela GS, Abramson C. Crystallization and partial characterization of Staphylococcus aureus hyaluronate lyase. Acta Biochem Biophys 158: 687-694, 1973.

Reed RK, Laurent UBG, Fraser JRE, Laurent TC. Removal rate of [³H] hyaluronan injected subcutaneously in rabbits. Am J Physiol 259: H532-H535, 1990.

Reissig JL, Strominger JL, Leloir LF. A modified colorimetric method of the estimation of N-acetylaminosugars. J Biol Chem 217: 959-966, 1955.

Richman PG, Baer H. A convenient plate assay for the quantification of hyaluronidase in hymenoptera venom. Anal Biochem 109: 376-381, 1980.

Roden L. Connective tissue proteoglycans. In The Biochemistry of Glycoproteins and Proteoglycans, Lennarz WJ ed. pp 267-37. New York, Plenum, 1980.

Roden L, Campbell P, Fraser JRE, Laurent TC, Pertoft H, Thompson JN. Enzymatic pathways of hyaluronan catabolism. In The Biology of Hyaluronan. Ciba Foundation Symposium 143, pp 60-86. Wiley, Chichester, England, 1989.

Rogers HJ. Hyaluronidases. In *Biochemists' Handbook*, Long C ed, pp 242-245. E. and P. M. Spon Ltd., London, 1961.

Rovelstad GH, Geller JH, Cohen AH. The hyaluronidase activity of saliva I. The determination of characteristics of hyaluronidase activity in young male adults. *J Dent Res* 37: 107-113, 1958.

Ruggiero SL, Bertolami CN, Bronson RE, Damiani PJ. Hyaluronidase activity of rabbit skin wound granulation tissue fibroblasts. *J Dent Res* 66: 1283-1287, 1987.

Ruoslahti E, Pierschbacher MD. New perspectives in cell adhesion: RGD and integrins. Science 238: 491-497, 1987.

Rydell NW, Butler H, Balazs EA. Effect of intra-auricular injection of hyaluronic acid on the clinical symptoms of arthritis in rack horses. Acta Vet Scand 11: 139-155, 1970.

Sahu SC. Hyaluronidase activity in alveolar secretions of human lung. *Biochem Med* 25: 56-61, 1981.

Schultz-Haudt SD, Bruce MA, Bibby BG. Tissue destructive products of gingival bacteria from non-specific gingivitis. J Dent Res 33: 624-631, 1954.



Ĵ

Schultz-Haudt SD, Scherp HW. Production of hyaluronidase and beta-glucaronidase by viridans Streptococci isolated from gingival crevices. J Dent Res 34: 924-929, 1955.

Scott JE. Supramolecular organization of extracellular matrix glycosaminoglycans, in vitro and in the tissues. FASEB J 6: 2639-2645, 1992.

Sebag J. The vitreous. In Adler's Physiology of the Eye: Clinical Application, Hart WM ed., 9th edition, pp 268-347. St. Louis, Mosby Year Book, 1992.

Shen L, Ghavamzadeh G, Shklar G. Gingival healing in sialadenectomized rats. *J Periodontal* 50: 533-539, 1979.

Ship JA, Baum BJ. Old age in health and disease. Lessons from the oral cavity. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 76: 40-44, 1993.

Smedsrod B, Pertoft H, Gustafson S, Laurent TC. Scavenger functions of the liver endothelial cell. *Biochem J* 266: 313-327, 1990.

Soder PO, Nord CE. Determination of hyaluronidase activity in dental plaque material. *J Periodont Res* 4: 208-214, 1969.

Soderling, E: Practical aspects of salivary analyses. In Human Saliva: Clinical Chemistry and Microbiology, Volume I, Tenovuo JO ed, pp 1-24. Boca Raton, Florida, CRC Press, 1989.

Squier CA, Waterhouse JP. Lysosomes in oral epithelium: the ultrastructural localization of acid phosphatase and non-specific esterase in keratinized oral epithelium in man and rat. Arch Oral Biol 15: 153-168, 1970.

Stair SE. Identification and Partial Characterization of Hyaluronidase from Cultured Normal Human Dermal Fibroblasts, Master of Arts Thesis. California State University, San Francisco, California, 1993.

Stern M. Biology of Hyaluronidases, Ph.D. Dissertation. University of California, San Francisco, 1993.

Stern M, Stern R. An ELISA-like assay for hyaluronidase and hyaluronidase inhibitors, *Matrix* 12: 397-403, 1992.

Stern R. Unpublished data. University of California, San Francisco, Department of Pathology, San Francisco, CA 94143, 1993.

Sting R, Schaufuss P, Blobel H. Isolation and characterization of hyaluronidase from Streptococcus

L

dysgalactiae, S. zooepidemicus and S. equi. Int J Med Microbiol 272: 276-282, 1990.

Strachan RK, Smith P, Gardner DL. Hyaluronate in rheumatology and orthopaedics. Is there a role? Ann Rheum Dis 49: 949-952, 1990.

Sweeney KY, Weiss AS. Hyaluronic acid in progeria and the aged phenotype? *Gerontol* 38:139-152, 1992.

Tam YC, Chan ECS. Purification and characterization of hyaluronidase from oral Peptostreptococcus species. Infect Immun 47: 508-513, 1985.

Tan YH, Bowness JM. Canine submandibular-gland hyaluronidase. Biochem J 110: 19-25, 1968.

Tapper GW, Stern M, Chang A, Schwartz D, Stern R. Hyaluronidase is a hyaluronan-binding protein and is present in preparations of hyaluronan. Abstract: American Society of Cell Biology, Denver Colorado, November 1993.

Ten Cate AR. Salivary glands. In Oral Histology: Development, Structure, and Function, 2nd edition, pp 303-331, St. Louis, CV Mosby Company, 1985.

Tengblad A. Affinity chromatography on immobilized hyaluronate and its application to the isolation of hyaluronate binding proteins from cartilage. *Biochim Biophys* Acta 578: 281-289, 1979.

Tenovuo J, Grahn E, Lehtonen OP, Hyyppa T, Karhuvaara L, Vilja P. Antimicrobial factors in saliva: Ontogeny and relation to oral health. J Dent Res 66: 475-479, 1987.

Thet LA, Howell AC, Han G. Changes in lung hyaluronidase activity associated with lung growth, injury, and repair. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 117: 71-77, 1983.

Tipler LS, Embery G. Glycosaminoglycan depolymerizing enzymes produced by anaerobic bacteria isolated from the human mouth. Arch Oral Biol 30: 391-396, 1985.

Toole BP. Developmental role of hyaluronate. Connect Tissue Res 10: 93-100, 1982.

Toole BP. Glycosaminoglycans in morphogenesis. In Cell Biology of the Extracellular Matrix Hay ed. 2nd edition, pp 259-294. Plenum Press, New York, 1981.

Toole BP. Hyaluronan and its binding proteins, the hyaladherins. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 2: 839-844, 1990.



£

Toole BP. Hyaluronate turnover during chondrogenesis in the developing chick limb and axial skeleton. Dev Biol 29:321-329, 1972.

Toole BP. Morphogenetic role of glycosaminoglycans (acid mucopolysaccharides) in brain and other tissues. In *Neuronal Recognition* Barondes SH ed. pp 275-329. Plenum Press, New York, 1976.

Toole BP, Goldberg RL, Chi-Rosso G, Underhill CB, Orkin RW. Hyaluronate-cell interactions. In The Role of the Extracellular Matrix in Development. Trelstad RL ed. pp 43-66, Alan R. Liss Inc., New York, 1984.

Toole BP, Gross J. The extracellular matrix of the regenerating new limb: Synthesis and removal of hyaluronate prior to differentiation. Dev Biol 25: 57-77, 1971.

Toole BP, Jackson G, Gross J. Hyaluronate in morphogenesis: Inhibition of chondrogenesis in-vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 69: 1384-1386, 1972.

Toole BP, Munaim SF, Welles S, Knudson CB. Hyaluronate-cell interactions and growth factor regulation of hyaluronate synthesis during embryo development. In *The Biology of Hyaluronan*, Ciba Foundation Symposium 143, pp 146-159. Wiley, Chichester, England, 1989.

Toole BP, Trelstad RL. Hyaluronate production and removal during corneal development in the chick. *Dev Biol* 26: 28-35, 1971.

Turley EA. Hyaluronan and cell locomotion. Cancer Met Rev 11: 21-30, 1992.

Turley EA. Proteoglycans and cell adhesion: their putative role during tumorigenesis. *Cancer Met Rev* 3: 325-339, 1984.

Tylenda CA, Ship JA, Fox PC, Baum BJ. Evaluation of submandibular salivary flow rate in different age groups. J Dent Res 67: 1225-1228, 1988.

Tynelius-Bratthall G. Hyaluronidase activity in gingival crevicular material and in peritoneal exudate leukocytes in dogs. J Periodont Res 7: 3-7, 1972.

Tynelius-Bratthall G, Attstrom R. Acid-phosphatase, hyaluronidase, and protease in crevices of healthy and chronically inflamed gingiva in dogs. *J Dent Res* 51: 279-283, 1972.

van Palenstein-Helderman WH, Hoogeveen CJCM. Bacterial

1

7

2

-

' ' -'

3

1

•

enzymes and viable counts in crevices of noninflamed and inflamed gingiva. J Periodont Res 11: 25-34, 1976.

Weigel PH, Fuller GM, LaBoeuf RD. A model for the role of hyaluronic acid and fibrin in the early events during the inflammatory response and wound healing. *J Theoret Biol* 119: 219-234, 1986.

West DC, Hampson IN, Arnold F, Kumar S. Angiogenesis induced by degradation products of hyaluronic acid. *Science* 228: 1324-1326, 1985.

Wolff A, Ship JA, Tylenda CA, Fox PC, Baum BJ. Oral mucosal appearance is unchanged in healthy, different aged persons. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 71: 569-572, 1991.

Yamada M, Hasegawa E, Kanamori M. Purification of hyaluronidase from human placenta. *J Biochem* 81: 485-494, 1977.

Yang CH, Srivastava PN. Purification of bull sperm hyaluronidase by concanavalin-A affinity chromatography. Biochem Biophys Acta 391: 382-387, 1975.

Yuki H, Fishman WH. Purification and characterization of leech hyaluronic acid-endo-B-glucuronidase. *J Biol Chem* 238: 1877-1879, 1963.

ر مر ته

٠.

<u>.</u>

ĉ

ï

CIL Sur Francica LIBRARY States HL STIT LIBRARY

Image: State of the second A Dry Standing

ANY 1017
IBRARY
III FOR Not to be taken from the room.
III BRARY
III FOR Not to be taken from the room.

III Construction
San Francisco
San Francisco
San Francisco

III Construction
III BRARY
San Francisco
San Francisco

III BRARY
San Francisco
San Francisco
San Francisc

